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Exhibit 99.1
Kaixin Auto Holdings Announces Entry into a Definitive Share Purchase Agreement with Shareholders of Haitaoche Limited
BEIJING, January 4, 2021 (GLOBE NEWSWIRE) -- Kaixin Auto Holdings (“Kaixin” or the “Company”) (NASDAQ: KXIN) today announced that it has
entered into a definitive share purchase agreement (the “Share Purchase Agreement”) with the shareholders (the “Sellers”) of Haitaoche Limited
(“Haitaoche”) on December 31, 2020.
The Share Purchase Agreement supersedes a binding term sheet between Kaixin and Haitaoche, which was announced on November 5, 2020. Pursuant to
the Share Purchase Agreement, Kaixin will acquire 100% of the share capital of Haitaoche from the Sellers (the “Acquisition”). As consideration for the
Acquisition, Kaixin will issue an aggregate of 74,035,502 ordinary shares to the Sellers.
Because the Acquisition is a transaction whereby the Company combines with a non-Nasdaq entity resulting in a change of control of the Company, the
Company is required to apply for initial listing in connection with the Acquisition pursuant to Rule 5110(a) of the Nasdaq Stock Market. Subject to the
approval by Nasdaq and other closing conditions, the Company anticipates that the Acquisition will close by March 31, 2021.
The Company will file a current report on Form 6-K with the Securities Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), which will include as exhibits (i) the Share
Purchase Agreement, (ii) Haitaoche’s audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 2018 and 2019 and unaudited consolidated
financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2020; and (iii) unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of June 30, 2020
combining the unaudited consolidated balance sheets of Kaixin and Haitaoche as of June 30, 2020, giving effect to the Acquisition as if it had been
consummated as of that date.
Haitaoche is a China-based online retail platform for imported automobiles. With enhanced governmental policy support for new energy vehicles and
recent innovative technological development, the auto industry is ushering in an era of major business model breakthroughs and opportunities. Haitaoche is
committed to developing into China's leading innovative automotive retail trading platform. Having established good performance record and reputation in
the field of import car sales in the past years, Haitaoche is expanding its sales system into the field of electric vehicles. It has reached into cooperation
intentions with a number of electric vehicle suppliers to cater to diversified demands of consumer groups. It’s also in the process of setting up strategic
cooperative arrangements with well-known Chinese automobile manufacturers to design and launch customized electric vehicles in order to tap into the
huge potentials of the new automobile market in China, while following and exploring the commercial application of autonomous driving in electric
vehicles.
Haitaoche is led by its founders, Mr. Mingjun Lin and Mr. Yun Wu. Mr. Lin was also appointed as Kaixin’s acting chief executive office on November 3,
2020.

Safe Harbor Statement
This announcement contains forward-looking statements. These statements are made under the “safe harbor” provisions of the U.S. Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements can be identified by terminology such as “will,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “future,”
“intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “estimates” and similar statements. Kaixin may also make written or oral forward-looking statements in its filings with the
SEC, in its annual report to shareholders, in press releases and other written materials and in oral statements made by its officers, directors or employees to
third parties. Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about Kaixin’s beliefs and expectations, are forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties. A number of factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those
contained in any forward-looking statement, including but not limited to the following: our goals and strategies; our future business development, financial
condition and results of operations; the expected growth of the social networking site market in China; our expectations regarding demand for and market
acceptance of our services; our expectations regarding the retention and strengthening of our relationships with used auto dealerships; our plans to enhance
user experience, infrastructure and service offerings; competition in our industry in China; and relevant government policies and regulations relating to our
industry. Further information regarding these and other risks is included in our other documents filed with the SEC. All information provided in this press
release and in the attachments is as of the date of this press release, and Kaixin does not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statement,
except as required under applicable law.
For more information, please contact:
Investor Relations
Kaixin Auto Holdings
Tel: +86 (10) 8448-1818
Email: ir@kaixin.com
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SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated as of December 31, 2020 (this “Agreement”), among
1.

KAIXIN AUTO HOLDINGS, an exempted company with limited liability incorporated under the Laws of the Cayman Islands (the “Purchaser”);

2.

YUNFEIYANG LIMITED, a company with limited liability organized under the Laws of the British Virgin Islands;

3.

AADD LIMITED, a company with limited liability organized under the Laws of the British Virgin Islands;

4.

QIANGQIANG LIMITED, a company with limited liability organized under the Laws of the British Virgin Islands;

5.

HJDXL LIMITED, a company with limited liability organized under the Laws of the British Virgin Islands;

6.

WIRELESSROCK INC., a company with limited liability organized under the Laws of the British Virgin Islands;

7.

RIGHT ADVANCE MANAGEMENT LIMITED, a company with limited liability organized under the Laws of the British Virgin Islands;

8.

DINGQIN LIMITED, a company with limited liability organized under the Laws of the British Virgin Islands; and

9.

FIT RUN LIMITED, a company with limited liability organized under the Laws of the British Virgin Islands (together with, Yunfeiyang Limited,
Aadd Limited, Qiangqiang Limited, Hjdxl Limited, Wirelessrock Inc., RIGHT ADVANCE MANAGEMENT LIMITED and DingQin Limited,
the “Sellers,” and each, a “Seller”).
The Purchaser and the Sellers are referred to hereinafter collectively as the “Parties” and each a “Party.”

WHEREAS, the Sellers collectively own 100% of the issued and outstanding share capital of HAITAOCHE LIMITED, an exempted company with
limited liability incorporated under the Laws of the Cayman Islands (the “Company”);
WHEREAS, the Purchaser intends to purchase, and the Sellers intend to sell, 100% of the issued and outstanding share capital of the Company (the
“Acquisition”);
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, and intending to be legally bound
hereby, the Parties hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
THE ACQUISITION
Section 1.01
The Acquisition. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing (as defined in
Section 2.01), each of the Sellers, severally but not jointly, shall sell, convey, transfer and deliver to the Purchaser, and the Purchaser shall purchase, acquire
and accept from such Seller, all of the right, title and interest in and to such number of Company Shares as set out opposite such Seller’s name on Schedule
I hereto (the “Sale Shares”), free and clear of all Liens, other than those arising under applicable securities Laws, contained in the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association or resulting from the actions of the Purchaser or its Affiliates (the “Acquisition”). As consideration for the
Acquisition, the Purchase shall issue to each of the Sellers such number of Purchaser Shares as set out opposite such Seller’s name on Schedule I hereto
(the “Consideration Shares”), free and clear of all Liens, other than those arising under applicable securities Laws, contained in the Purchaser’s
memorandum and articles of association or resulting from the actions of such Seller or its Affiliates.
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ARTICLE II
CLOSING
Section 2.01

Closing.

(a)
Unless otherwise agreed in writing between the Purchaser and the Sellers, the closing for the Acquisition (the “Closing”) shall
take place at 10:00 a.m. (Beijing time) at the offices of Cooley HK at 3501, 35/F Two Exchange Square, 8 Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong, as soon
as practicable after the signing of this Agreement, but in any event no later than the third (3rd) Business Day following the day on which the last to be
satisfied or, if permissible, waived of the conditions set forth in Article VII (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the
Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or, if permissible, waiver of those conditions) shall be satisfied or, if permissible, waived in accordance with this
Agreement (such date being the “Closing Date”).
(b)

At the Closing:
(i)

the Purchaser shall deliver to the Sellers certificates representing the applicable Consideration Shares;

(ii)

each Seller shall deliver to the Purchaser the applicable Sale Shares;

(iii)
the Purchaser and each Seller, as applicable, shall deliver or cause to be delivered to each other instruments of transfer
as reasonably required to transfer the Sale Shares and the Consideration Shares in compliance with the Purchaser’s memorandum and articles of association
or the Company’s memorandum and articles of association, as applicable;
(c)
the Purchaser and the Sellers agree that all of the actions and deliveries set out in this Section 2.01 made or performed at the
Closing shall be deemed to have been made or performed simultaneously and that each such action and delivery shall require all other actions and
deliveries to be completed in order to constitute Closing.
Section 2.02
Certain Adjustments. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if, after the date hereof and prior to the
Closing, the number of outstanding Purchaser Shares as of the date hereof shall have been or will be changed into a different number of shares or a
different class or security by reason of any reclassification, stock split (including a reverse stock split), stock dividend or distribution, recapitalization,
consolidation, split-up, combination, sub-division, exchange, readjustment or otherwise, then the terms of this Agreement shall be appropriately adjusted to
provide each of the Purchaser and the Sellers the same economic effect as contemplated by this Agreement. Nothing in this Section 2.02 shall be construed
to permit any party hereto to take any action that is otherwise prohibited or restricted by any other provision of this Agreement.
ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SELLERS
The Sellers hereby, jointly and severally, represent and warrant to the Purchaser as of the Closing Date that:
2

Section 3.01

Organization, Good Standing and Qualification.

(a)
Each Seller is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, and
has all requisite power and authority to carry on its business as presently conducted.
(b)
The Company is an exempted company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the Cayman
Islands. Each of the Company’s Subsidiaries is a legal entity duly organized or formed, validly existing and in good standing (to the extent the relevant
jurisdiction recognizes such concept of good standing) under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization or formation, and each Group Company has the
requisite corporate or similar power and authority and all necessary governmental approvals to own, lease, operate and use its properties and assets and to
carry on its business as it is now being conducted. Each Group Company is duly qualified or licensed to do business, and is in good standing (to the extent
the relevant jurisdiction recognizes such concept of good standing), in each jurisdiction where the character of the properties and assets owned, leased,
operated or used by it or the nature of its business makes such qualification or licensing necessary.
(c)
Other than the Group Companies, there are no other corporations, associations, or other persons that are legal entities that are
material to the business of the Group Companies, taken as a whole, through which the Group Companies conduct business and in which any Group
Company owns, of record or beneficially, any direct or indirect equity or other interest or right (contingent or otherwise) to acquire the same, and none of
the Group Companies is a participant in (nor is any part of their businesses conducted through) any joint venture, partnership or similar arrangement that is
material to the business of the Group Companies, taken as a whole.
Section 3.02
Memorandum and Articles of Association. The Sellers have heretofore furnished or otherwise made available to the Purchaser
a complete and correct copy of the memorandum and articles of association or equivalent organizational documents, each as amended to date, of the
Company and each Subsidiary. Such memorandum and articles of association or equivalent organizational documents are in full force and effect as of the
date hereof. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is in violation of any of the provisions of its memorandum and articles of association or equivalent
organizational documents in any material respect.
Section 3.03

Capitalization.

(a)
The authorized share capital of the Company is US$50,000 divided into (A) 46,979,266 ordinary shares of par value US$0.001
each (the “Company Ordinary Shares” and each a “Company Ordinary Share”), (B) 2,000,000 Series A preferred shares of par value US$0.001 each (the
“Company Series A Preferred Shares”), and (C) 1,020,734 Series A-1 preferred shares of par value US$0.001 each (the “Company Series A-1 Preferred
Shares,” and together with the Company Series A Preferred Shares, collectively the “Company Preferred Shares” and each a “Company Preferred
Share”). As of the date hereof, (i) 8,000,000 Company Ordinary Shares were issued and outstanding, all of which have been duly authorized, validly
issued, fully paid and non-assessable, (ii) 2,000,000 Company Series A Preferred Shares were issued and outstanding, all of which have been duly
authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and (iii) 1,020,734 Company Series A-1 Preferred Shares were issued and outstanding, all of
which have been duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.
(b)
There are no options, warrants, preemptive rights, conversion rights, redemption rights, share appreciation rights, repurchase
rights, convertible debt, other convertible instruments or other rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments of any character issued by the Company
relating to the issued or unissued share capital of the Company or obligating the Company to issue, transfer or sell or cause to be issued, transferred or sold
any Equity Securities of the Company or any securities or obligations convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for, or giving any person a right to
subscribe for or acquire, any securities of the Company and no securities or obligations evidencing such rights are authorized, issued or outstanding. Except
as otherwise provided in this Agreement, there are no outstanding contractual obligations of the Company to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any
Equity Securities of the Company. The Company has not issued and does not have outstanding any bonds, debentures, notes or other obligations that
provide the holders thereof with the right to vote (or are convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for securities having the right to vote) on any
matter on which the shareholders of the Company may vote.
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(c)
The Sellers have furnished or otherwise made available to the Purchaser prior to the date of this Agreement a true and correct
capitalization table that sets forth the following information with respect to the Company’s Equity Securities (including all the Company Ordinary Shares
Equivalents) outstanding as of the date hereof: the numbers, percentages, holders, issue prices, conversion prices and applicable Preferred Shares
Conversion Ratios of the Equity Securities of the Company. All of the Company Preferred Shares are not subject to any outstanding adjustment to the
conversion price or the applicable Preferred Shares Conversion Ratios set forth in the foregoing capitalization table provided by the Company, or the
holder’s outstanding rights (which are not waived) to request any of such adjustment.
(d)
Except for preemptive rights as may be applicable to shares of the Company’s Subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC pursuant to
applicable PRC Law, there are no options, warrants, convertible debt, other convertible instruments or other rights, agreements, arrangements or
commitments of any character issued by any Group Company relating to the issued or unissued share capital of any Subsidiary or obligating any Subsidiary
to issue, transfer or sell or cause to be issued, transferred or sold any shares of capital stock or other securities of any Subsidiary or any securities or
obligations convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for, or giving any person a right to subscribe for or acquire, any securities of any Subsidiary and
no securities or obligations evidencing such rights are authorized, issued or outstanding. The outstanding share capital or registered capital, as the case may
be, of each of the Company’s Subsidiaries is duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and the portion of the outstanding share capital
or registered capital, as the case may be, of each of the Company’s Subsidiaries that is owned by any Group Company is owned by such Group Company
free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens). Subject to limitations imposed by applicable Law and the applicable constitutional documents, such
Group Company has the unrestricted right to vote and to receive dividends and distributions on all such equity securities held by the relevant Group
Company in such Subsidiary. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, there are no outstanding contractual obligations of any Group Company to
repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any Equity Securities of any Group Company.
Section 3.04
Authority Relative to This Agreement; Fairness. Each Seller has the requisite corporate power and authority to execute and
deliver this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate
the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including the Acquisition (the “Transactions”). The execution, delivery and performance by each Seller
of the Transaction Documents and the consummation by such Seller of the Transactions have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the
part of such Seller. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by each Seller and, assuming the due authorization, execution and
delivery by the Purchaser, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Seller, enforceable against such Seller in accordance with its terms,
subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws of general applicability relating to or affecting
creditors’ rights and to general principles of equity (the “Bankruptcy and Equity Exception”).
Section 3.05

No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents.

(a)
The execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents by each Seller do not, and the performance of the Transaction
Documents by such Seller and the consummation of the Transactions will not, (i) conflict with or violate the memorandum and articles of association or
equivalent organizational documents of such Seller, (ii) conflict with or violate any statute, law, ordinance, regulation, rule, code, executive order,
injunction, judgment, decree or other order (the “Laws”) applicable to such Seller or by which any property or asset of such Seller is bound or affected, or
(iii) violate, conflict with, require consent under, result in any breach of, result in loss of benefit under, or constitute a default (or an event which, with
notice or lapse of time or both, would become a default) under, or give to others any right of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of, or
result in the creation of a Lien on any property or asset of such Seller pursuant to, any Contract to which such Seller is a party or by which its properties or
assets are bound, except, with respect to clauses (ii) and (iii), for any such conflict, violation, breach, default, right or other occurrence that would not,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impair or delay, or be reasonably be expected to prevent or materially
impair or delay, the consummation of the Acquisition or other Transactions.
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(b)
The execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents by each Seller do not, and the performance of the Transaction
Documents by such Seller and the consummation by such Seller of the Transactions will not, require any consent, approval, authorization or permit of, or
filing with or notification to, any nation or government, any agency, public or regulatory authority, instrumentality, department, commission, court,
arbitrator, ministry, tribunal or board of any nation or government or political subdivision thereof, in each case, whether foreign or domestic and whether
national, supranational, federal, provincial, state, regional, local or municipal (each, a “Governmental Authority”), except any such consent, approval,
authorization, permit, action, filing or notification the failure of which to make or obtain would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be
expected to prevent or materially impair or delay, or be reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impair or delay, the consummation of the
Acquisition or other Transactions.
Section 3.06

Permits; Compliance with Laws.

(a)
Each Group Company is in possession of all material franchises, grants, authorizations, licenses, permits, easements, variances,
exceptions, consents, certificates, approvals and orders of any Governmental Authority necessary for it to own, lease, operate and use its properties and
assets or to carry on its business as it is now being conducted (the “Material Company Permits”). As of the date hereof, no suspension or cancellation of
any of the Material Company Permits is pending or, to the knowledge of the Sellers, threatened. All such Material Company Permits are valid and in full
force and effect. Each Group Company is in compliance, in all material respects, with the terms of the Material Company Permits. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, all approvals, filings and registrations and other requisite formalities with Governmental Authorities in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) that are material to the Group Companies, taken as a whole, and are required to be obtained or made in respect of each Group Company
incorporated in the PRC with respect to its capital structure and operations as it is now being conducted, including, but not limited to, if so material, the
approvals of and registrations with the State Administration for Industry and Commerce, the Ministry of Commerce, the National Development and Reform
Commission, the State Administration of Foreign Exchange (“SAFE”) and the State Administration of Taxation, and their respective local counterparts,
have been duly completed in accordance with applicable PRC Laws.
(b)
Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, no
Group Company is in default, breach or violation of any Law applicable to it (including (i) any Laws applicable to its business, and (ii) any Laws related to
the protection of personal data) or by which any of its properties or assets are bound. No Group Company has received any written notice or
communication from any Governmental Authority or stock exchange of any non-compliance with any applicable Laws or listing rules or regulations that
has not been cured or of which the statute of limitation has not lapsed except for such investigations, charges, assertions, reviews or notifications of
violations the outcome of which would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.
(c)
No Group Company or, to the knowledge of the Sellers, any agent, director, officer, employee or other person acting on behalf
of any Group Company, has, in the course of its actions for, or on behalf of, a Group Company (i) made or given any bribe, rebate, payoff, influence
payment, kickback or any other type of payment, that would violate any Anticorruption Law or (ii) made an offer to pay, a promise to pay or a payment or
transfer of money or anything else of value, or an authorization of such offer, promise, payment or transfer, directly or indirectly, to any Government
Official for the purpose of (A) influencing any act or decision of such Government Official in his official capacity, (B) inducing such Government Official
to do or omit to do any act in violation of his lawful duties, (C) securing any improper advantage or (D) inducing such Government Official to influence
any act or decision of any Governmental Authority.
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(d)
The Company has complied in all material respects with the reporting and/or registration requirements of SAFE Circular 37,
SAFE Circular 75, SAFE Circular 78 or any other applicable SAFE rules and regulations (collectively, the “SAFE Rules and Regulations”). As of the date
hereof, the Company has not received any written inquiries, notifications, orders or any other forms of official written correspondence from SAFE or any of
its local branches with respect to any actual or alleged material non-compliance with the SAFE Rules and Regulations by such holders or beneficial
owners.
Section 3.07

Financial Statements.

(a)
Each of the consolidated financial statements (including, in each case, any notes thereto) of the Company was prepared in
accordance with the United States generally accepted accounting principles (as amended from time to time, “GAAP”) applied on a consistent basis
throughout the periods indicated (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto) and each fairly presents, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position, results of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows of the Company and its Subsidiaries as at the respective dates
thereof and for the respective periods indicated therein, in each case in accordance with GAAP except as may be noted therein.
(b)
Except as and to the extent set forth on the Company’s audited, consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended
December 31, 2019 and the Company’s reviewed, consodlidated financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2020, no Group Company has
outstanding (i) any Indebtedness or any commitments therefor, or (ii) any other liability or obligation of any nature (whether accrued, absolute, contingent
or otherwise) that are required in accordance with GAAP to be disclosed or reflected on or reserved against the consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its Subsidiaries, except for liabilities or obligations (A) in the total amount of no more than US$1,000,000 and incurred in the ordinary
course of business consistent with past practice since December 31, 2019, or (B) incurred pursuant to this Agreement or in connection with the
Transactions.
Section 3.08
Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Since December 31, 2019, except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, each
Group Company has conducted business in all material respects in the ordinary course, and there has not been (a) any Company Material Adverse Effect;
(b) any declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividend or other distribution in cash, stock, property or otherwise in respect of any Group Company’s
Equity Securities, except for any dividend or distribution by a Group Company to another Group Company; (c) any redemption, repurchase or other
acquisition of any Equity Securities of any Group Company by a Group Company; (d) any material change by the Company in its accounting principles,
except as may be appropriate to conform to changes in statutory or regulatory accounting rules or GAAP or regulatory requirements with respect thereto; or
(e) any material Tax election made by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any settlement or compromise of any material Tax liability by the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other than in the ordinary course of business.
Section 3.09 Absence of Litigation. There is no litigation, hearing, suit, claim, action, proceeding or investigation (an “Action”) pending or, to
the knowledge of the Sellers, threatened against any Group Company, or any share, security, equity interest, property or asset of any Group Company,
before any Governmental Authority which (i) has or would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, or (ii) as of the date
hereof, has enjoined, restrained, prevented or materially delayed, or would reasonably be expected to enjoin, restrain, prevent or materially delay, the
consummation of the Acquisition. No Group Company, nor any property or asset of any Group Company is subject to any continuing order of, consent
decree, settlement agreement or other similar written agreement with, or, to the knowledge of the Sellers, continuing investigation by, any Governmental
Authority, or any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or award of any Governmental Authority.
Section 3.10

Employee Benefit Plans.

(a)
The Sellers have furnished or otherwise made available to the Purchaser prior to the date of this Agreement an accurate and
complete list of each material Company Employee Plan, other than any Company Employee Plan mandated by applicable Law to which the sole liability of
the Company and its Subsidiaries is to make contributions required by Law including plans or programs maintained by a Governmental Authority requiring
the payment of social insurance taxes or similar contributions by the Company or its Subsidiaries to a fund of a Governmental Authority with respect to
wages of an employee. With respect to each material Company Employee Plan, the Sellers has made available to the Purchaser, to the extent applicable,
(i) copies of each such Company Employee Plan document, including all material amendments thereto, and all related trust documents, (ii) if such
Company Employee Plan is not in written form, a written description of such Company Employee Plan and any material written interpretations thereof that
have previously been provided or made available to employees, (iii) the most recently prepared actuarial report, and (iv) all material correspondence to or
from any Governmental Authority received in the last three (3) years with respect to any such Company Employee Plan.
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(b)
Each material Company Employee Plan has, in all material respects, been established, operated and maintained in compliance
with its terms and with applicable Law (including any special provisions relating to qualified plans where such Company Employee Plan was intended so
to qualify).
(c)
Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect,
(i) all contributions or other amounts payable by a Group Company with respect to each Company Employee Plan in respect of current or prior plan years
have been paid or accrued in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and (ii) there are no claims (other than for benefits incurred in the
ordinary course) or Actions pending, or, to the knowledge of the Sellers, threatened against any Company Employee Plan or against the assets of any
Company Employee Plan which could reasonably be expected to result in any liability to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
(d)
Except as expressly provided under this Agreement, neither the execution of this Agreement, shareholder approval of this
Agreement, nor the consummation of the Transactions alone (whether alone or in connection with any additional or subsequent events such as a termination
of employment), will (i) entitle any current or former director, employee or consultant of any Group Company to material compensation in the form of a
severance payment or similar payment, (ii) accelerate the time of payment or vesting or result in any payment or funding of compensation or benefits
under, increase the amount payable or result in any other obligation pursuant to, any of the Company Employee Plans, or (iii) limit or restrict the right to
merge, materially amend, terminate or transfer the assets of any Company Employee Plan on or following the Closing, other than in the case of (i) and (ii),
continued coverage under applicable Company Employee Plans for a specified duration no longer than twelve months upon any resignation or termination
following the consummation of the Transaction.
Section 3.11

Labor and Employment Matters.

(a)
Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any collective bargaining agreement, trade union,
works council or other labor union Contract applicable to persons employed by it, and, to the knowledge of the Sellers, there are no organizational
campaigns, petitions or other unionization activities seeking recognition of a collective bargaining unit relating to any employee of any Group Company.
There are no unfair labor practice complaints pending or, to the knowledge of the Sellers, threatened against any Group Company before any Governmental
Authority and, as of the date hereof, there is no organized strike, slowdown, work stoppage or lockout, or similar activity currently occurring or, to the
knowledge of the Sellers, threatened against or involving any Group Company.
(b)
Each Group Company (i) is in compliance with all applicable Laws relating to employment and employment practices,
including those related to wages, work hours, shifts, overtime, holidays and leave, collective bargaining terms and conditions of employment and the
payment and withholding of Taxes and other sums as required by the appropriate Governmental Authority and (ii) is not liable for any arrears of wages,
Taxes, penalties or other sums for failure to comply with any of the foregoing. Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be
expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, (A) there is no claim with respect to payment of wages, salary or overtime pay that is now pending
or, to the knowledge of the Sellers, threatened before any Governmental Authority with respect to any persons currently or formerly employed by any
Group Company, (B) there is no charge or proceeding with respect to a violation of any occupational safety or health standards that is now pending or, to
the knowledge of the Sellers, threatened with respect to any Group Company and (C) there is no charge of discrimination in employment or employment
practices for any reason, including, age, gender, race, religion or other legally protected category, that is now pending or, to the knowledge of the Sellers,
threatened against any Group Company before any Governmental Authority in any jurisdiction in which any Group Company has employed or currently
employs any person.
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Section 3.12

Real Property; Title to Assets.

(a)
Except as would not be material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, with respect to each Owned Real
Property: (i) the relevant Group Company has good and marketable title, validly granted land use rights or building ownership rights, as applicable, to such
Owned Real Property, free and clear of all Liens, except Permitted Liens, (ii) no Group Company has leased or otherwise granted to any person the right to
use or occupy such Owned Real Property or any portion thereof, (iii) there are no outstanding options, rights of first offer or rights of first refusal to
purchase such Owned Real Property or any portion thereof or interest therein, and (iv) the relevant Group Company is the only party in possession of such
Owned Real Property. No Group Company is a party to any Contract, agreement or option to purchase any material real property or interest therein. The
land use rights relating to the Owned Real Property have been obtained from a competent Governmental Authority in compliance in all material respects
with applicable PRC Law, all amounts (including, if applicable, land grant premiums) required under applicable Law in connection with securing such title
or land use rights have been paid in full and such land use rights are not subject to any restrictions that would materially interfere with the operation of the
Group Companies as currently conducted as of the date hereof. Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a
Company Material Adverse Effect, (1) the relevant Group Company has duly complied in all respects with all of the terms and conditions of, and all of its
obligations under, the relevant land use rights contract or real property purchase contract in relation to any Owned Real Property owned by it (including the
obligations to develop the land in accordance with the schedules provided under relevant land grant contracts), (2) the Owned Real Property remains in
conformity with all applicable building codes and standards, fire prevention, safety, planning or zoning Law, and (3) no Group Company has been subject
to any fine or other penalty imposed by any Governmental Authority (including any penalty imposed due to idleness of land or failure to develop the land
in accordance with the schedules provided under relevant land grant contracts).
(b)
With respect to the Lease for each Leased Real Property: (i) such Lease is legal, valid, binding, enforceable and in full force
and effect, subject to the Bankruptcy and Equity Exception, (ii) to the knowledge of the Sellers, there are no disputes with respect to such Lease and
(iii) neither any Group Company nor, to the knowledge of the Sellers, any other party to the Lease is in breach or default under such Lease, and no event
has occurred or circumstance exists which, with the delivery of notice, the passage of time or both, would constitute such a breach or default, or permit the
termination, modification or acceleration of rent under such Lease.
(c)
The Company and its Subsidiaries have good and marketable title to, or a valid and binding leasehold interest in, all other
properties and assets (excluding Owned Real Property, Leased Real Property and Intellectual Property) that are material to the business of the Company
and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, in each case free and clear of all Liens, except Permitted Liens.
Section 3.13

Intellectual Property.

(a)
The Company and its Subsidiaries have valid and enforceable rights to use all Intellectual Property used in, or necessary to
conduct, the business of the Company or its Subsidiaries as it is currently conducted (the “Company Intellectual Property”), free and clear of all Liens
(other than Permitted Liens).
(b)
Since January 1, 2018, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received written notice of any Action, and, to the
knowledge of the Sellers, no Action is threatened, that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or the business or activities conducted by them (including
the commercialization and exploitation of its products and services), is infringing, misappropriating, or otherwise violating or has infringed,
misappropriated or otherwise violated any Intellectual Property right of any person, including any demands or unsolicited offers to license any Intellectual
Property. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor the business or activities conducted by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including the
commercialization and exploitation of their products and services) infringes, misappropriates or otherwise violates or, since January 1, 2018, has infringed,
misappropriated or otherwise violated any Intellectual Property rights of any person. To the knowledge of the Sellers, no person is currently infringing,
misappropriating or otherwise violating or, since January 1, 2018, has infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated, any Intellectual Property owned by
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
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(c)
There are no pending or, to the knowledge of the Sellers, threatened Actions by any person challenging the validity or
enforceability of, or the use or ownership by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of, any of the Intellectual Property owned by the Company or its
Subsidiaries.
(d)
All current or former officers, employees, consultants or contractors of the Company and its Subsidiaries who have participated
in the creation or development of Intellectual Property in the course of their employment, engagement or contract with the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries have executed and delivered to the Company or such Subsidiary written agreements (i) providing for the non-disclosure by such person of
confidential information and (ii) providing for the assignment by such person to the Company or such Subsidiary of any Intellectual Property developed or
arising out of such person’s employment by, engagement by or contract with the Company or such Subsidiary of the Company.
(e)
The collection, use and dissemination of any and all data and information concerning individuals by each Group Company is
and will be, immediately following the Closing, in compliance in all respects with all applicable privacy policies, terms of use, other data-related
agreements and all applicable Laws.
(f)
The Company and its Subsidiaries have taken all actions reasonably necessary to maintain and protect each item of Intellectual
Property that they own, including all trade secrets and other know-how or confidential or proprietary information (together, the “Trade Secrets”) that are
owned by any Group Company. To the knowledge of the Sellers, none of the Group Companies’ Trade Secrets have been disclosed to any Third Party
except pursuant to valid and appropriate written non-disclosure agreements or license agreements or pursuant to obligations to maintain confidentiality
arising by operation of Law. Immediately subsequent to the Closing, the Company Intellectual Property shall be owned by or available for use by the
Company and its Subsidiaries on terms and conditions identical to those under which the Company and its Subsidiaries owned or used the Company
Intellectual Property immediately prior to the Closing.
(g)
The Company IT Assets are: (A) adequate and sufficient for the operation of the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ business; and
(B) to the knowledge of the Sellers, are free from any defects, viruses, worms and other malware. The Company and its Subsidiaries have implemented
backup, security and disaster recovery measures and technology consistent with best industry practices in the PRC. Since January 1, 2018, the Company IT
Assets have not failed in any respect, and to the knowledge of Sellers, (i) no person has gained unauthorized access to any Company IT Assets and (ii) the
data that the Company IT Assets process or produce with respect to the businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries have not been corrupted or
compromised in any respect.
(h)
None of the Intellectual Property owned by any Group Company is subject to any Contract or other obligation as a result of any
funding or support from, or any arrangement with, any Governmental Authority.
(i)
No Group Company is a party to or bound by any Contract that grants or purports to grant, as a result of the consummation of
the Transactions, a license or covenant not to sue under any Intellectual Property of the Purchaser or any of its Affiliates (other than the Group Companies).
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Section 3.14

Taxes.

(a)
Each Group Company has duly filed all material Tax returns and reports required to be filed by it and has paid and discharged
all Taxes required to be paid or discharged, other than such payments as are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which
adequate reserves have been established on the Company’s financial statements in accordance with GAAP. All such Tax returns are true, accurate and
complete in all material respects. No Governmental Authority is asserting in writing or, to the knowledge of the Sellers, threatening to assert against any
Group Company any material deficiency or claim for any Taxes. No Group Company has granted any waiver of any statute of limitations with respect to,
or any extension of a period for the assessment of, any material Tax.
(b)
No audit or other examination or administrative, judicial or other proceeding of, or with respect to, any material Tax return or
material Taxes of any Group Company is currently in progress, and no Group Company has been notified of any written request for, or, to the knowledge of
the Sellers, any threat of, such an audit or other examination or administrative, judicial or other proceeding. No written claim has been made by any
Governmental Authority in a jurisdiction where a Group Company does not file Tax returns that such Group Company is or may be subject to taxation by
such jurisdiction.
(c)
Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries incorporated outside the PRC takes the position for tax purposes that it is a
“resident enterprise” of the PRC or tax resident in any jurisdiction other than its jurisdiction of formation.
(d)
Each Group Company has, in accordance with applicable Law, duly registered with the relevant Governmental Authority,
obtained and maintained the validity of all national and local tax registration certificates and complied in all material respects with all requirements
imposed by such Governmental Authorities. Each submission made by or on behalf of any Group Company to any Governmental Authority in connection
with obtaining Tax exemptions, Tax holidays, Tax deferrals, Tax incentives or other preferential Tax treatments or Tax rebates was accurate and complete in
all material respects. As of the date hereof, no suspension, revocation or cancellation of any Tax exemptions, preferential treatments or rebates is pending
or, to the knowledge of the Sellers, threatened.
(e)
The Company and its Subsidiaries have complied in all material respects with all applicable Laws relating to the withholding
and payment over to the appropriate Governmental Authority of all Taxes required to be withheld by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
Section 3.15

No Secured Creditors. The Company does not have any secured creditors holding a fixed or floating security interest.

Section 3.16
Company Material Contracts. Each material Contract to which a Group Company is a party (a “Company Material Contract”)
is a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Group Company and to the knowledge of the Sellers, the other parties thereto, in each case subject to the
Bankruptcy and Equity Exception. Neither any Group Company nor, to the knowledge of the Sellers and as of the date hereof, any other party thereto, is in
breach or violation of, or default under, any Company Material Contract and no event has occurred or not occurred through any Group Company’s action or
inaction or, to the knowledge of the Sellers, the action or inaction of any Third Party, that with notice or lapse of time or both would constitute a breach or
violation of, or default under, any Company Material Contract. No Group Company has received any written claim or notice of default, termination or
cancellation under any Company Material Contract.
Section 3.17 Environmental Matters. (i) Each Group Company is in compliance with all applicable Environmental Law and has obtained and
possesses all permits, licenses and other authorizations (including environmental assessment reports, and construction project verification reports that are
required under applicable PRC Law) currently required for their establishment and their operation under any Environmental Law (the “Environmental
Permits”), and all such Environmental Permits are in full force and effect, (ii) no property currently or formerly owned or operated by any Group Company
has been contaminated with or is releasing any Hazardous Substance in a manner that would reasonably be expected to require remediation or other action
pursuant to any Environmental Law, (iii) no Group Company has received any notice, demand, letter, claim or request for information alleging that any
Group Company is in violation of or liable under any Environmental Law, which remains unresolved, and (iv) no Group Company is subject to any order,
decree or injunction with any Governmental Authority or agreement with any Third Party concerning liability under any Environmental Law or relating to
Hazardous Substances.
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Section 3.18
Insurance. (a) All insurance policies and all self-insurance programs and arrangements relating to the business, assets, liabilities
and operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries are in full force and effect, (b) the Sellers have no reason to believe that the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries will not be able to (i) renew its existing insurance policies as and when such policies expire or (ii) obtain comparable coverage from
comparable insurers as may be necessary to continue its business without a significant increase in cost and (c) neither the Company nor any of its
Subsidiaries has received any written notice of any threatened termination of, premium increase with respect to, or alteration of coverage under, any of its
respective insurance policies.
Section 3.19 Anti-Takeover Provisions. The Company is not a party to a shareholder rights agreement or “poison pill” or similar agreement or
plan. No “business combination,” “fair price,” “moratorium,” “control share acquisition” or other similar anti-takeover statute or regulation (each, a
“Takeover Statute”) is applicable to the Company, the Company Shares, the Acquisition or the other Transactions.
Section 3.20
Brokers. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection
with the Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company.
Section 3.21
Solvency. The Company and its Subsidiaries will be solvent at and immediately after the Closing, as such term is used under the
Laws of the Cayman Islands.
Section 3.22 Independent Investigation. The Sellers have conducted their own independent investigation, review and analysis of the business,
operations, assets, liabilities, results of operations, financial condition and prospects of each Purchaser Group Company, which investigation, review and
analysis was performed by the Sellers, their Affiliates and their respective Representatives. Each Seller acknowledges that as of the date hereof, it, its
Affiliates and their respective Representatives have been provided adequate access to the personnel, properties, facilities and records of the Purchaser and
its Subsidiaries for such purpose. In entering into this Agreement, each Seller acknowledges that it has relied solely upon the aforementioned investigation,
review and analysis and not on any statements, representations or opinions of any of the Purchaser, its Affiliates or their respective Representatives (except
the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of the Purchaser set forth in this Agreement and in any certificate delivered pursuant to this
Agreement).
Section 3.23
Non-Reliance on Purchaser Estimates. In connection with the due diligence investigation of the Purchaser by the Sellers, their
Affiliates and their respective Representatives, the Sellers, their Affiliates and their respective Representatives have received and may continue to receive
from the Purchaser, its Subsidiaries and/or their respective Affiliates and Representatives certain estimates, projections and other forecasts, as well as
certain business plan information, regarding the Purchaser, its Subsidiaries and their business and operations. Each Seller hereby acknowledges and agrees
that these estimates, projections, forecasts and information and the assumptions on which they are based were prepared for specific purposes and may vary
significantly from each other. Further, each Seller acknowledges and agrees (a) that there are uncertainties inherent in attempting to make such estimates,
projections and forecasts, as well as in such business plans, (b) that such Seller is taking full responsibility for making its own evaluation of the adequacy
and accuracy of all estimates, projections and forecasts, as well as such business plans, so furnished to them (including the reasonableness of the
assumptions underlying such estimates, projections, forecasts or business plans), and (c) that such Seller is not relying on any estimates, projections,
forecasts or business plans furnished by the Purchaser, its Subsidiaries or their respective Affiliates and Representatives, and such Seller shall not, and shall
cause its Affiliates and their respective Representatives not to, hold any such person liable with respect thereto, other than fraud in connection therewith;
provided that nothing contained in this Section 3.23 shall be deemed to limit in any way the representations and warranties of the Purchaser set forth in this
Agreement.
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Section 3.24
No Other Representations or Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this Article III, the
Purchaser acknowledges that none of the Sellers nor any other person on behalf of such Seller makes any other express or implied representation or
warranty with respect to any Group Company or with respect to any other information provided to the Purchaser, its Affiliates or their respective
Representatives. None of the Sellers nor any other person will have or be subject to any liability to the Purchaser or any other person resulting from the
distribution to the Purchaser or its use of, any such information, including any information, documents, projections, forecasts or other material made
available to the Purchaser in management presentations in expectation of the Transactions, unless and to the extent such information is expressly included
in the representations and warranties contained in this Article III.
Section 3.25
Full Disclosure. The Sellers have provided the Purchaser with all the information that the Purchaser and its Representatives have
requested for deciding whether to consummate the Transactions. None of the Transaction Documents nor any other statements or certificates or other
materials made or delivered, or to be made or delivered, to the Purchaser in connection herewith or therewith, contains any untrue statement of a material
fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements herein or therein not misleading. No representation or warranty by the Sellers in the
Transaction Documents and no information or materials provided to the Purchaser in connection with its due diligence investigation of any Group
Company or the negotiation and execution of the Transaction Documents, taken as a whole, contains or will contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omits or will omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statement therein, in light of the circumstances
in which they are made, not misleading.
ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE PURCHASER
Except as set forth in the Purchaser SEC Reports filed or furnished prior to the date of this Agreement, the Purchaser hereby represents and
warrants to the Sellers as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date that:
Section 4.01

Corporate Organization.

(a)
The Purchaser is an exempted company duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the Cayman
Islands. Each of the Purchaser’s Subsidiaries is a legal entity duly organized or formed, validly existing and in good standing (to the extent the relevant
jurisdiction recognizes such concept of good standing) under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization or formation, and each Purchaser Group
Company has the requisite corporate or similar power and authority and all necessary governmental approvals to own, lease, operate and use its properties
and assets and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted. Each Purchaser Group Company is duly qualified or licensed to do business, and is in
good standing (to the extent the relevant jurisdiction recognizes such concept of good standing), in each jurisdiction where the character of the properties
and assets owned, leased, operated or used by it or the nature of its business makes such qualification or licensing necessary.
(b)
Other than the Purchaser Group Companies, there are no other corporations, associations, or other persons that are legal entities
that are material to the business of the Purchaser Group Companies, taken as a whole, through which the Purchaser Group Companies conduct business and
in which any Purchaser Group Company owns, of record or beneficially, any direct or indirect equity or other interest or right (contingent or otherwise) to
acquire the same, and none of the Purchaser Group Companies is a participant in (nor is any part of their businesses conducted through) any joint venture,
partnership or similar arrangement that is material to the business of the Purchaser Group Companies, taken as a whole.
Section 4.02
Memorandum and Articles of Association. The Purchaser has heretofore made available to the Sellers complete and correct
copies of the memorandum and articles of association of the Purchaser and each Subsidiary of the Purchaser, each as amended to date, and each as so
delivered is in full force and effect. Such memorandum and articles of association or equivalent organizational documents are in full force and effect as of
the date hereof. Neither the Purchaser nor any Subsidiary of the Purchaser is in violation of any of the provisions of its memorandum and articles of
association or equivalent organizational documents in any material respect.
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Section 4.03

Capitalization.

(a)
The authorized share capital of the Purchaser is US$50,000 divided into 500,000,000 ordinary shares of a par value of
US$0.0001 each (the “Purchaser Shares,” and each, a “Purchaser Share”), of which 6,000 Purchaser Shares have been designated as Series A
Convertible Preferred Shares (“Purchaser Preferred Shares”). As of the date hereof, 65,132,149 Purchaser Shares are issued and outstanding, all of which
have been duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and (ii) 3,000 Purchaser Preferred Shares are issued and outstanding, all of which
have been duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and are convertible into 1,000,000 Purchaser Shares. Each Purchaser Option was
duly authorized by all necessary corporate action, and such grant was made in compliance with the terms of the Purchaser Equity Incentive Plan and with
all applicable Laws. All Shares subject to issuance under Purchaser Options, upon the vesting and/or settlement and issuance on the terms and conditions
specified in the instruments pursuant to which they are issuable, will be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.
(b)
Except for the Purchaser Options referred to in Section 4.03(a) and except as disclosed in the Purchaser SEC Reports, there are
no options, warrants, preemptive rights, conversion rights, redemption rights, share appreciation rights, repurchase rights, convertible debt, other
convertible instruments or other rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments of any character issued by the Purchaser relating to the issued or
unissued share capital of the Purchaser or obligating the Purchaser to issue, transfer or sell or cause to be issued, transferred or sold any Equity Securities of
the Purchaser or any securities or obligations convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for, or giving any person a right to subscribe for or acquire,
any securities of the Purchaser and no securities or obligations evidencing such rights are authorized, issued or outstanding. Except as otherwise provided
in this Agreement or in connection with (A) the exercise of any Purchaser Options in accordance with the Purchaser Equity Incentive Plan, (B) the
withholding of Purchaser securities to satisfy tax obligations with respect to Purchaser Options, (C) the acquisition by the Purchaser of its securities in
connection with the forfeiture of Purchaser Options, or (D) the acquisition by the Purchaser of its securities in connection with the net exercise of Purchaser
Options in accordance with the terms thereof, there are no outstanding contractual obligations of the Purchaser to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire
any Equity Securities of the Purchaser. The Purchaser has not issued and does not have outstanding any bonds, debentures, notes or other obligations that
provide the holders thereof with the right to vote (or are convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for securities having the right to vote) on any
matter on which the shareholders of the Purchaser may vote.
(c)
The Purchaser has furnished or otherwise made available to the Sellers prior to the date of this Agreement a true and correct
capitalization table that sets forth the following information with respect to the Purchaser’s Equity Securities (including Purchaser Options) outstanding as
of the date hereof: (i) the numbers and percentages of the Equity Securities of the Purchaser; (ii) the number of Purchaser Shares subject to Purchaser
Options and the number of Shares subject to Purchaser Options by exercise or purchase price; (iii) the vesting schedule and other vesting conditions (if
any) of such Purchaser Options; and (iv) the date on which such number of Purchaser Options expire. Each grant of Purchaser Options outstanding as of
the date of this Agreement has been evidenced by an award agreement entered into under the Purchaser Equity Incentive Plan that is substantially similar,
in all material respects, to the forms of award agreements the Purchaser has made available to the Sellers. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement,
there are no commitments or agreements of any character to which any Purchaser Group Company is bound obligating such Purchaser Group Company to
accelerate or otherwise alter the vesting of any Purchaser Option as a result of the Transactions.
(d)
All Purchaser Shares subject to issuance upon due exercise of a Purchaser Option, upon issuance on the terms and conditions
specified in the instruments pursuant to which they are issuable, will be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. the Purchaser has
made available to the Sellers accurate and complete copies of (x) the Purchaser Equity Incentive Plan pursuant to which the Purchaser has granted the
Purchaser Options that are currently outstanding, (y) the forms of award agreement evidencing such Purchaser Options and (z) award agreements
evidencing such Purchaser Options with terms that are materially different from those set forth in the forms of award agreement.
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(e)
Except for preemptive rights as may be applicable to shares of the Purchaser’s Subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC pursuant to
applicable PRC Law, there are no options, warrants, convertible debt, other convertible instruments or other rights, agreements, arrangements or
commitments of any character issued by any Purchaser Group Company relating to the issued or unissued share capital of any Subsidiary or obligating any
Subsidiary to issue, transfer or sell or cause to be issued, transferred or sold any shares of capital stock or other securities of any Subsidiary or any
securities or obligations convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for, or giving any person a right to subscribe for or acquire, any securities of any
Subsidiary and no securities or obligations evidencing such rights are authorized, issued or outstanding. The outstanding share capital or registered capital,
as the case may be, of each of the Purchaser’s Subsidiaries is duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and the portion of the
outstanding share capital or registered capital, as the case may be, of each of the Purchaser’s Subsidiaries that is owned by any Purchaser Group Company
is owned by such Purchaser Group Company free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens). Subject to limitations imposed by applicable Law and
the applicable constitutional documents, such Purchaser Group Company has the unrestricted right to vote and to receive dividends and distributions on all
such equity securities held by the relevant Purchaser Group Company in such Subsidiary. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, there are no
outstanding contractual obligations of any Purchaser Group Company to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any Equity Securities of any Purchaser
Group Company.
Section 4.04
Authority Relative to Transaction Documents; Fairness. The Purchaser has the requisite corporate power and authority to
execute and deliver this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to
consummate the Transactions. The execution, delivery and performance by the Purchaser of the Transaction Documents and the consummation by the
Purchaser of the Transactions have been duly authorized by the Purchaser Board, and no other corporate action on the part of the Purchaser is necessary to
authorize the execution and delivery by the Purchaser of the Transaction Documents and the consummation by them of the Transactions. This Agreement
has been duly and validly executed and delivered by the Purchaser and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the Sellers, constitutes a
legal, valid and binding obligation of the Purchaser, enforceable against the Purchaser in accordance with its terms, subject to the Bankruptcy and Equity
Exception.
Section 4.05

No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents.

(a)
The execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents by the Purchaser do not, and the performance of the Transaction
Documents by the Purchaser and the consummation of the Transactions will not, (i) conflict with or violate the memorandum and articles of association of
the Purchaser or any equivalent organizational documents of any other Purchaser Group Company, (ii) assuming (solely with respect to performance of the
Transaction Documents and consummation of the Transactions) that the matters referred to in Section 4.05(b) are complied with, conflict with or violate
any Law applicable to any Purchaser Group Company or by which any property or asset of any Purchaser Group Company is bound or affected, or
(iii) violate, conflict with, require consent under, result in any breach of, result in loss of benefit under, or constitute a default (or an event which, with
notice or lapse of time or both, would become a default) under, or give to others any right of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of, or
result in the creation of a Lien on any property or asset of any Purchaser Group Company pursuant to, any Contract to which any Purchaser Group
Company is a party or by which any of their respective properties or assets are bound, except, with respect to clauses (ii) and (iii), for any such conflict,
violation, breach, default, right or other occurrence that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Purchaser Material
Adverse Effect or prevent or materially impair or delay, or be reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impair or delay, the consummation of the
Acquisition or other Transactions.
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(b)
The execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents by the Purchaser do not, and the performance of the Transaction
Documents by the Purchaser and the consummation by the Purchaser of the Transactions will not, require any consent, approval, authorization or permit of,
or filing with or notification to, any Governmental Authority, except (i) for compliance with the applicable requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, (ii) for compliance with the rules and regulations of the
Nasdaq Stock Market (the “NASDAQ”), (collectively, the “Requisite Regulatory Approvals”) and (iv) any such consent, approval, authorization, permit,
action, filing or notification the failure of which to make or obtain would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to prevent or
materially impair or delay, or be reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impair or delay, the consummation of the Acquisition or other
Transactions.
Section 4.06

Permits; Compliance with Laws.

(a)
Each Purchaser Group Company is in possession of all material franchises, grants, authorizations, licenses, permits, easements,
variances, exceptions, consents, certificates, approvals and orders of any Governmental Authority necessary for it to own, lease, operate and use its
properties and assets or to carry on its business as it is now being conducted (the “Material Purchaser Permits”). As of the date hereof, no suspension or
cancellation of any of the Material Purchaser Permits is pending or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened. All such Material Purchaser Permits are
valid and in full force and effect. Each Purchaser Group Company is in compliance, in all material respects, with the terms of the Material Purchaser
Permits. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all approvals, filings and registrations and other requisite formalities with Governmental
Authorities in the PRC that are material to the Purchaser Group Companies, taken as a whole, and are required to be obtained or made in respect of each
Purchaser Group Company incorporated in the PRC with respect to its capital structure and operations as it is now being conducted, including, but not
limited to, if so material, the approvals of and registrations with the State Administration for Industry and Commerce, the Ministry of Commerce, the
National Development and Reform Commission, the SAFE and the State Administration of Taxation, and their respective local counterparts, have been
duly completed in accordance with applicable PRC Laws.
(b)
Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect, no
Purchaser Group Company is in default, breach or violation of any Law applicable to it (including (i) any Laws applicable to its business, and (ii) any Laws
related to the protection of personal data) or by which any of its properties or assets are bound. No Purchaser Group Company has received any written
notice or communication from any Governmental Authority or stock exchange of any non-compliance with any applicable Laws or listing rules or
regulations that has not been cured or of which the statute of limitation has not lapsed except for such investigations, charges, assertions, reviews or
notifications of violations the outcome of which would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Purchaser Material Adverse
Effect.
(c)
No Purchaser Group Company or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, any agent, director, officer, employee or other person
acting on behalf of any Purchaser Group Company, has, in the course of its actions for, or on behalf of, a Purchaser Group Company (i) made or given any
bribe, rebate, payoff, influence payment, kickback or any other type of payment, that would violate any Anticorruption Law or (ii) made an offer to pay, a
promise to pay or a payment or transfer of money or anything else of value, or an authorization of such offer, promise, payment or transfer, directly or
indirectly, to any Government Official for the purpose of (A) influencing any act or decision of such Government Official in his official capacity,
(B) inducing such Government Official to do or omit to do any act in violation of his lawful duties, (C) securing any improper advantage or (D) inducing
such Government Official to influence any act or decision of any Governmental Authority.
(d)
The Purchaser has complied in all material respects with the reporting and/or registration requirements of the SAFE Rules and
Regulations, with respect to the registration of the Purchaser Equity Incentive Plan with the Governmental Authorities in the PRC. As of the date hereof,
the Purchaser has not received any written inquiries, notifications, orders or any other forms of official written correspondence from SAFE or any of its
local branches with respect to any actual or alleged material non-compliance with the SAFE Rules and Regulations by such holders or beneficial owners.
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Section 4.07

SEC Filings; Financial Statements.

(a)
The Purchaser has filed or furnished, as the case may be, all forms, reports and other documents required to be filed with or
furnished to the SEC by the Purchaser pursuant to the Securities Act and the Exchange Act (the “Purchaser SEC Reports”). As of the date of filing, in the
case of Purchaser SEC Reports filed pursuant to the Exchange Act (and to the extent such Purchaser SEC Reports were amended, then as of the date of
filing of such amendment), and as of the date of effectiveness in the case of Purchaser SEC Reports filed pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”) (and to the extent such Purchaser SEC Reports were amended, then as of the date of effectiveness of such amendment), the
Purchaser SEC Reports (i) complied as to form in all material respects with either the requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, as the case
may be, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, each as in effect on the date so filed or effective, and (ii) did not contain any untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or incorporated by reference therein or necessary in order to make the
statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading as of its filing date or effective date (as applicable).
(b)
Each of the consolidated financial statements (including, in each case, any notes thereto) contained in or incorporated by
reference into the Purchaser SEC Reports was prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods indicated (except as
may be indicated in the notes thereto) and each fairly presents, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position, results of operations, changes in
shareholders’ equity and cash flows of the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries as at the respective dates thereof and for the respective periods indicated therein
(subject, in the case of unaudited interim statements, to normal year-end audit adjustments which are not material in the aggregate and the exclusion of
certain notes in accordance with the rules of the SEC relating to unaudited financial statements), in each case in accordance with GAAP except as may be
noted therein.
(c)
Except as and to the extent set forth in the Purchaser SEC Reports, no Purchaser Group Company has outstanding (i) any
Indebtedness or any commitments therefor, or (ii) any other liability or obligation of any nature (whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise) that
are required in accordance with GAAP to be disclosed or reflected on or reserved against the consolidated financial statements of the Purchaser and its
Subsidiaries, except for liabilities or obligations (A) incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice since December 31, 2019,
(B) incurred pursuant to this Agreement or in connection with the Transactions, or (C) which do not, or would not reasonably be expected to, have a
Purchaser Material Adverse Effect.
Section 4.08
Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Since December 31, 2019, except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, each
Purchaser Group Company has conducted business in all material respects in the ordinary course, and there has not been (a) any Purchaser Material
Adverse Effect; (b) any declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividend or other distribution in cash, stock, property or otherwise in respect of any
Purchaser Group Company’s Equity Securities, except for any dividend or distribution by a Purchaser Group Company to another Purchaser Group
Company; (c) any redemption, repurchase or other acquisition of any Equity Securities of any Purchaser Group Company by a Purchaser Group Company
(other than repurchase of Shares to satisfy obligations under the Purchaser Equity Incentive Plan or other similar plans or arrangements including the
withholding of Shares in connection with the exercise of Purchaser Options in accordance with the terms and conditions of such Purchaser Options);
(d) any material change by the Purchaser in its accounting principles, except as may be appropriate to conform to changes in statutory or regulatory
accounting rules or GAAP or regulatory requirements with respect thereto; or (e) any material Tax election made by the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries
or any settlement or compromise of any material Tax liability by the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries, other than in the ordinary course of business.
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Section 4.09 Absence of Litigation. There is no Action pending or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened against any Purchaser Group
Company, or any share, security, equity interest, property or asset of any Purchaser Group Company, before any Governmental Authority which (i) has or
would reasonably be expected to have a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect, or (ii) as of the date hereof, has enjoined, restrained, prevented or materially
delayed, or would reasonably be expected to enjoin, restrain, prevent or materially delay, the consummation of the Acquisition. No Purchaser Group
Company, nor any property or asset of any Purchaser Group Company is subject to any continuing order of, consent decree, settlement agreement or other
similar written agreement with, or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, continuing investigation by, any Governmental Authority, or any order, writ,
judgment, injunction, decree, determination or award of any Governmental Authority.
Section 4.10

Employee Benefit Plans.

(a)
The Purchaser has furnished or otherwise made available to the Sellers prior to the date of this Agreement an accurate and
complete list of each material Purchaser Employee Plan, any Purchaser Employee Plan mandated by applicable Law to which the sole liability of the
Purchaser and its Subsidiaries is to make contributions required by Law including plans or programs maintained by a Governmental Authority requiring the
payment of social insurance taxes or similar contributions by the Purchaser or its Subsidiaries to a fund of a Governmental Authority with respect to wages
of an employee. With respect to each material Purchaser Employee Plan, the Purchaser has made available to the Sellers, to the extent applicable, (i) copies
of each such Purchaser Employee Plan document, including all material amendments thereto, and all related trust documents, (ii) if such Purchaser
Employee Plan is not in written form, a written description of such Purchaser Employee Plan and any material written interpretations thereof that have
previously been provided or made available to employees, (iii) the most recently prepared actuarial report, and (iv) all material correspondence to or from
any Governmental Authority received in the last three (3) years with respect to any such Purchaser Employee Plan.
(b)
Each material Purchaser Employee Plan has, in all material respects, been established, operated and maintained in compliance
with its terms and with applicable Law (including any special provisions relating to qualified plans where such Purchaser Employee Plan was intended so
to qualify).
(c)
Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect,
(i) all contributions or other amounts payable by a Purchaser Group Company with respect to each Purchaser Employee Plan in respect of current or prior
plan years have been paid or accrued in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and (ii) there are no claims (other than for benefits
incurred in the ordinary course) or Actions pending, or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened against any Purchaser Employee Plan or against the
assets of any Purchaser Employee Plan which could reasonably be expected to result in any liability to the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries.
(d)
Except as expressly provided under this Agreement, neither the execution of this Agreement, shareholder approval of this
Agreement, nor the consummation of the Transactions alone (whether alone or in connection with any additional or subsequent events such as a termination
of employment), will (i) entitle any current or former director, employee or consultant of any Purchaser Group Company to material compensation in the
form of a severance payment or similar payment, (ii) accelerate the time of payment or vesting or result in any payment or funding of compensation or
benefits under, increase the amount payable or result in any other obligation pursuant to, any of the Purchaser Employee Plans, or (iii) limit or restrict the
right to merge, materially amend, terminate or transfer the assets of any Purchaser Employee Plan on or following the Closing, other than in the case of
(i) and (ii), continued coverage under applicable Purchaser Employee Plans for a specified duration no longer than twelve months upon any resignation or
termination following the consummation of the Transaction.
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Section 4.11

Labor and Employment Matters.

(a)
Neither the Purchaser nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any collective bargaining agreement, trade union,
works council or other labor union Contract applicable to persons employed by it, and, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, there are no organizational
campaigns, petitions or other unionization activities seeking recognition of a collective bargaining unit relating to any employee of any Purchaser Group
Company. There are no unfair labor practice complaints pending or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened against any Purchaser Group Company
before any Governmental Authority and, as of the date hereof, there is no organized strike, slowdown, work stoppage or lockout, or similar activity
currently occurring or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened against or involving any Purchaser Group Company.
(b)
Each Purchaser Group Company (i) is in compliance with all applicable Laws relating to employment and employment
practices, including those related to wages, work hours, shifts, overtime, holidays and leave, collective bargaining terms and conditions of employment and
the payment and withholding of Taxes and other sums as required by the appropriate Governmental Authority and (ii) is not liable for any arrears of wages,
Taxes, penalties or other sums for failure to comply with any of the foregoing. Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be
expected to have a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect, (A) there is no claim with respect to payment of wages, salary or overtime pay that is now pending
or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened before any Governmental Authority with respect to any persons currently or formerly employed by any
Purchaser Group Company, (B) there is no charge or proceeding with respect to a violation of any occupational safety or health standards that is now
pending or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened with respect to any Purchaser Group Company and (C) there is no charge of discrimination in
employment or employment practices for any reason, including, age, gender, race, religion or other legally protected category, that is now pending or, to the
knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened against any Purchaser Group Company before any Governmental Authority in any jurisdiction in which any
Purchaser Group Company has employed or currently employs any person.
Section 4.12

Real Property; Title to Assets.

(a)
Except as would not be material to the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, with respect to each Owned Real
Property: (i) the relevant Purchaser Group Company has good and marketable title, validly granted land use rights or building ownership rights, as
applicable, to such Owned Real Property, free and clear of all Liens, except Permitted Liens, (ii) no Purchaser Group Company has leased or otherwise
granted to any person the right to use or occupy such Owned Real Property or any portion thereof, (iii) there are no outstanding options, rights of first offer
or rights of first refusal to purchase such Owned Real Property or any portion thereof or interest therein, and (iv) the relevant Purchaser Group Company is
the only party in possession of such Owned Real Property. No Purchaser Group Company is a party to any Contract, agreement or option to purchase any
material real property or interest therein. The land use rights relating to the Owned Real Property have been obtained from a competent Governmental
Authority in compliance in all material respects with applicable PRC Law, all amounts (including, if applicable, land grant premiums) required under
applicable Law in connection with securing such title or land use rights have been paid in full and such land use rights are not subject to any restrictions
that would materially interfere with the operation of the Purchaser Group Companies as currently conducted as of the date hereof. Except as would not,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect, (1) the relevant Purchaser Group Company has duly
complied in all respects with all of the terms and conditions of, and all of its obligations under, the relevant land use rights contract or real property
purchase contract in relation to any Owned Real Property owned by it (including the obligations to develop the land in accordance with the schedules
provided under relevant land grant contracts), (2) the Owned Real Property remains in conformity with all applicable building codes and standards, fire
prevention, safety, planning or zoning Law, and (3) no Purchaser Group Company has been subject to any fine or other penalty imposed by any
Governmental Authority (including any penalty imposed due to idleness of land or failure to develop the land in accordance with the schedules provided
under relevant land grant contracts).
(b)
With respect to the Lease for each Leased Property: (i) such Lease is legal, valid, binding, enforceable and in full force and
effect, subject to the Bankruptcy and Equity Exception, (ii) to the knowledge of the Purchaser, there are no disputes with respect to such Lease and
(iii) neither any Purchaser Group Company nor, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, any other party to the Lease is in breach or default under such Lease,
and no event has occurred or circumstance exists which, with the delivery of notice, the passage of time or both, would constitute such a breach or default,
or permit the termination, modification or acceleration of rent under such Lease.
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(c)
The Purchaser and its Subsidiaries have good and marketable title to, or a valid and binding leasehold interest in, all other
properties and assets (excluding Owned Real Property, Leased Real Property and Intellectual Property) that are material to the business of the Purchaser
and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, in each case free and clear of all Liens, except Permitted Liens.
Section 4.13

Intellectual Property.

(a)
The Purchaser and its Subsidiaries have valid and enforceable rights to use all Intellectual Property used in, or necessary to
conduct, the business of the Purchaser or its Subsidiaries as it is currently conducted (the “Purchaser Intellectual Property”), free and clear of all Liens
(other than Permitted Liens).
(b)
Since January 1, 2018, neither the Purchaser nor any of its Subsidiaries have received written notice of any Action, and, to the
knowledge of the Purchaser, no Action is threatened, that the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries, or the business or activities conducted by them (including
the commercialization and exploitation of its products and services), is infringing, misappropriating, or otherwise violating or has infringed,
misappropriated or otherwise violated any Intellectual Property right of any person, including any demands or unsolicited offers to license any Intellectual
Property. Neither the Purchaser nor any of its Subsidiaries nor the business or activities conducted by the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries (including the
commercialization and exploitation of their products and services) infringes, misappropriates or otherwise violates or, since January 1, 2018, has infringed,
misappropriated or otherwise violated any Intellectual Property rights of any person. To the knowledge of the Purchaser, no person is currently infringing,
misappropriating or otherwise violating or, since January 1, 2018, has infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated, any Intellectual Property owned by
the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries.
(c)
There are no pending or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened Actions by any person challenging the validity or
enforceability of, or the use or ownership by the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries of, any of the Intellectual Property owned by the Purchaser or its
Subsidiaries.
(d)
All current or former officers, employees, consultants or contractors of the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries who have participated
in the creation or development of Intellectual Property in the course of their employment, engagement or contract with the Purchaser or any of its
Subsidiaries have executed and delivered to the Purchaser or such Subsidiary written agreements (i) providing for the non-disclosure by such person of
confidential information and (ii) providing for the assignment by such person to the Purchaser or such Subsidiary of any Intellectual Property developed or
arising out of such person’s employment by, engagement by or contract with the Purchaser or such Subsidiary of the Purchaser.
(e)
The collection, use and dissemination of any and all data and information concerning individuals by each Purchaser Group
Company is and will be, immediately following the Closing, in compliance in all respects with all applicable privacy policies, terms of use, other datarelated agreements and all applicable Laws.
(f)
The Purchaser and its Subsidiaries have taken all actions reasonably necessary to maintain and protect each item of Intellectual
Property that they own, including all Trade Secrets that are owned by any Purchaser Group Company. To the knowledge of the Purchaser, none of the
Purchaser Group Companies’ Trade Secrets have been disclosed to any Third Party except pursuant to valid and appropriate written non-disclosure
agreements or license agreements or pursuant to obligations to maintain confidentiality arising by operation of Law. Immediately subsequent to the
Closing, the Purchaser Intellectual Property shall be owned by or available for use by the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries on terms and conditions identical to
those under which the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries owned or used the Purchaser Intellectual Property immediately prior to the Closing.
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(g)
The Purchaser IT Assets are: (A) adequate and sufficient for the operation of the Purchaser’s and its Subsidiaries’ business; and
(B) to the knowledge of the Purchaser, are free from any defects, viruses, worms and other malware. The Purchaser and its Subsidiaries have implemented
backup, security and disaster recovery measures and technology consistent with best industry practices in the PRC. Since January 1, 2018, the Purchaser IT
Assets have not failed in any respect, and to the knowledge of Purchaser, (i) no person has gained unauthorized access to any Purchaser IT Assets and
(ii) the data that the Purchaser IT Assets process or produce with respect to the businesses of the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries have not been corrupted or
compromised in any respect.
(h)
None of the Intellectual Property owned by any Purchaser Group Company is subject to any Contract or other obligation as a
result of any funding or support from, or any arrangement with, any Governmental Authority.
(i)
No Purchaser Group Company is a party to or bound by any Contract that grants or purports to grant, as a result of the
consummation of the Transactions, a license or covenant not to sue under any Intellectual Property of the Company or any of its Affiliates (other than the
Purchaser Group Companies).
Section 4.14

Taxes.

(a)
Each Purchaser Group Company has duly filed all material Tax returns and reports required to be filed by it and has paid and
discharged all Taxes required to be paid or discharged, other than such payments as are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for
which adequate reserves have been established on the Purchaser’s financial statements in accordance with GAAP. All such Tax returns are true, accurate
and complete in all material respects. No Governmental Authority is asserting in writing or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatening to assert against
any Purchaser Group Company any material deficiency or claim for any Taxes. No Purchaser Group Company has granted any waiver of any statute of
limitations with respect to, or any extension of a period for the assessment of, any material Tax.
(b)
No audit or other examination or administrative, judicial or other proceeding of, or with respect to, any material Tax return or
material Taxes of any Purchaser Group Company is currently in progress, and no Purchaser Group Company has been notified of any written request for,
or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, any threat of, such an audit or other examination or administrative, judicial or other proceeding. No written claim has
been made by any Governmental Authority in a jurisdiction where a Purchaser Group Company does not file Tax returns that such Purchaser Group
Company is or may be subject to taxation by such jurisdiction.
(c)
Neither the Purchaser nor any of its Subsidiaries incorporated outside the PRC take the position for tax purposes that it is a
“resident enterprise” of the PRC or tax resident in any jurisdiction other than its jurisdiction of formation.
(d)
Each Purchaser Group Company has, in accordance with applicable Law, duly registered with the relevant Governmental
Authority, obtained and maintained the validity of all national and local tax registration certificates and complied in all material respects with all
requirements imposed by such Governmental Authorities. Each submission made by or on behalf of any Purchaser Group Company to any Governmental
Authority in connection with obtaining Tax exemptions, Tax holidays, Tax deferrals, Tax incentives or other preferential Tax treatments or Tax rebates was
accurate and complete in all material respects. As of the date hereof, no suspension, revocation or cancellation of any Tax exemptions, preferential
treatments or rebates is pending or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened.
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(e)
The Purchaser and its Subsidiaries have complied in all material respects with all applicable Laws relating to the withholding
and payment over to the appropriate Governmental Authority of all Taxes required to be withheld by the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries.
Section 4.15

No Secured Creditors. The Purchaser does not have any secured creditors holding a fixed or floating security interest.

Section 4.16
Purchaser Material Contracts. Each material Contract to which a Purchaser Group Company is a party (a “Purchaser Material
Contract”) is a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Purchaser Group Company and to the Purchaser’s knowledge, the other parties thereto, in each
case subject to the Bankruptcy and Equity Exception. Neither any Purchaser Group Company nor, to the Purchaser’s knowledge and as of the date hereof,
any other party thereto, is in breach or violation of, or default under, any Purchaser Material Contract and no event has occurred or not occurred through
any Purchaser Group Company’s or, to the Purchaser’s knowledge, the action or inaction of any Third Party, that with notice or lapse of time or both would
constitute a breach or violation of, or default under, any Purchaser Material Contract. No Purchaser Group Company has received any written claim or
notice of default, termination or cancellation under any Purchaser Material Contract.
Section 4.17
Environmental Matters. (i) Each Purchaser Group Company is in compliance with all applicable Environmental Law and has
obtained and possesses all Environmental Permits currently required for their establishment and their operation under any Environmental Law, and all such
Environmental Permits are in full force and effect, (ii) no property currently or formerly owned or operated by any Purchaser Group Company has been
contaminated with or is releasing any Hazardous Substance in a manner that would reasonably be expected to require remediation or other action pursuant
to any Environmental Law, (iii) no Purchaser Group Company has received any notice, demand, letter, claim or request for information alleging that any
Purchaser Group Company is in violation of or liable under any Environmental Law, which remains unresolved, and (iv) no Purchaser Group Company is
subject to any order, decree or injunction with any Governmental Authority or agreement with any Third Party concerning liability under any
Environmental Law or relating to Hazardous Substances.
Section 4.18
Insurance. (a) All insurance policies and all self-insurance programs and arrangements relating to the business, assets, liabilities
and operations of the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries are in full force and effect, (b) the Purchaser has no reason to believe that it or any of its Subsidiaries
will not be able to (i) renew its existing insurance policies as and when such policies expire or (ii) obtain comparable coverage from comparable insurers as
may be necessary to continue its business without a significant increase in cost and (c) neither the Purchaser nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any
written notice of any threatened termination of, premium increase with respect to, or alteration of coverage under, any of its respective insurance policies.
Section 4.19
Brokers. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection
with the Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Purchaser.
Section 4.20
Solvency. The Purchaser is not entering into the Transactions with the intent to hinder, delay or defraud either present or future
creditors. Immediately after giving effect to the Transactions, including the payment of any amounts required to be paid in connection with the
consummation of the Transactions, including the payment of all related fees and expenses, assuming (i) satisfaction of the conditions set forth in
Section 7.01 and Section 7.02, or the waiver of such conditions, and (ii) the accuracy of the representations and warranties of the Sellers set forth in this
Agreement (for such purposes, the representations and warranties that are qualified as to materiality or “Company Material Adverse Effect” or other words
of similar import shall be true and correct in all respects and those not so qualified shall be true and correct in all material respects), the Purchaser and its
Subsidiaries will be solvent at and immediately after the Closing, as such term is used under the Laws of the Cayman Islands.
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Section 4.21
Independent Investigation. The Purchaser has conducted its own independent investigation, review and analysis of the business,
operations, assets, liabilities, results of operations, financial condition and prospects of each Group Company, which investigation, review and analysis was
performed by the Purchaser, its Affiliates and their respective Representatives. The Purchaser acknowledges that as of the date hereof, it, its Affiliates and
their respective Representatives have been provided adequate access to the personnel, properties, facilities and records of the Company and its Subsidiaries
for such purpose. In entering into this Agreement, the Purchaser acknowledges that it has relied solely upon the aforementioned investigation, review and
analysis and not on any statements, representations or opinions of any of the Company, its Affiliates or their respective Representatives (except the
representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of the Company set forth in this Agreement and in any certificate delivered pursuant to this
Agreement).
Section 4.22
Non-Reliance on Company Estimates. In connection with the due diligence investigation of the Company by the Purchaser, its
Affiliates and their respective Representatives, the Purchaser, its Affiliates and their respective Representatives have received and may continue to receive
from the Sellers, their Affiliates and their respective Representatives certain estimates, projections and other forecasts, as well as certain business plan
information, regarding the Company, its Subsidiaries and their business and operations. The Purchaser hereby acknowledges and agrees that these
estimates, projections, forecasts and information and the assumptions on which they are based were prepared for specific purposes and may vary
significantly from each other. Further, the Purchaser acknowledges and agrees (a) that there are uncertainties inherent in attempting to make such estimates,
projections and forecasts, as well as in such business plans, (b) that the Purchaser is taking full responsibility for making its own evaluation of the adequacy
and accuracy of all estimates, projections and forecasts, as well as such business plans, so furnished to them (including the reasonableness of the
assumptions underlying such estimates, projections, forecasts or business plans), and (c) that the Purchaser is not relying on any estimates, projections,
forecasts or business plans furnished by the Sellers, their Affiliates or their respective Representatives, and the Purchaser shall not, and shall cause its
Affiliates and their respective Representatives not to, hold any such person liable with respect thereto, other than fraud in connection therewith; provided
that nothing contained in this Section 4.22 shall be deemed to limit in any way the representations and warranties of the Sellers set forth in this Agreement.
Section 4.23
No Additional Representations. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this Article IV, each Seller
acknowledges that neither the Purchaser nor any other person on behalf of the Purchaser makes any other express or implied representation or warranty
with respect to any Purchaser Group Company or with respect to any other information provided to the Sellers, their Affiliates or their respective
Representatives. Neither the Purchaser nor any other person will have or be subject to any liability to the Sellers or any other person resulting from the
distribution to the Sellers, or the Sellers’ use of, any such information, including any information, documents, projections, forecasts or other material made
available to the Sellers in management presentations in expectation of the Transactions, unless and to the extent such information is expressly included in
the representations and warranties contained in this Article IV.
ARTICLE V
CONDUCT OF BUSINESS PENDING THE ACQUISITION
Section 5.01
Conduct of Business by the Company Pending the Acquisition. The Sellers agree that, from the date of this Agreement until
the earlier of the Closing and termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article VIII, except as (x) required by applicable Law or (y) expressly
contemplated or permitted by this Agreement, unless the Purchaser shall otherwise consent in writing (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
delayed or conditioned), the Sellers shall procure that (i) the businesses of the Group Companies shall be conducted in the ordinary course of business in a
manner consistent with past practice; and (ii) the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to preserve the assets and the business organization
of the Group Companies in all material respects, to keep available the services of the current officers and key employees of the Group Companies and to
maintain in all material respects the current relationships of the Group Companies with existing customers, suppliers and other persons with which any
Group Companies has material business relations as of the date hereof.
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Without limiting the generality of the foregoing paragraph, from the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Closing and termination of this
Agreement pursuant to Article VIII, except as (x) required by applicable Law or (y) expressly contemplated or permitted by this Agreement, the Sellers
shall procure that no Group Company, directly or indirectly, do or propose to do any of the following without the prior written consent of the Purchaser
(which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned):
(a)

amend or otherwise change its memorandum and articles of association or equivalent organizational documents;

(b)
issue, sell, transfer, lease, sublease, license, pledge, dispose of, grant or encumber, or authorize the issuance, sale, transfer,
lease, sublease, license, pledge, disposition, grant or encumbrance of, (i) any shares of any class of any Group Company, or (ii) any property or assets
(whether real, personal or mixed, and including leasehold interests and intangible property) of any Group Company with a value or purchase price
(including the value of assumed liabilities) in excess of US$1,000,000, except in the ordinary course of business;
(c)
declare, set aside, make or pay any dividend or other distribution, payable in cash, shares, property or otherwise, with respect to
any of its shares (other than dividends or other distributions from any Subsidiary of the Company to the Company or any of its other Subsidiaries);
(d)
reclassify, combine, split, subdivide or redeem, or purchase or otherwise acquire, directly or indirectly, any of its share capital
or securities or other rights exchangeable into or convertible or exercisable for any of its share capital;
(e)
effect or commence any liquidation, dissolution, scheme of arrangement, merger, consolidation, amalgamation, restructuring,
reorganization, public offering or similar transaction involving any Group Company, or public offer of any new Subsidiary, other than as contemplated by
this Agreement;
(f)
acquire, whether by purchase, merger, spin off, consolidation, scheme of arrangement, amalgamation or acquisition of stock or
assets or otherwise, any assets, securities or properties, in aggregate, with a value or purchase price (including the value of assumed liabilities) in excess of
US$1,000,000 in any transaction or related series of transactions;
(g)
incur any additional Company Debt or guarantee any indebtedness for borrowed money of any Third Party except for the
incurrence or guarantee of indebtedness not in an aggregate amount in excess of US$1,000,000;
(h)
other than expenditures necessary to maintain assets in good repair consistent with the past practice or pursuant to the
Company’s operating plan in effect as of the date hereof, authorize, or make any commitment with respect to, any single capital expenditure which is in
excess of US$10,000,000 or capital expenditures which are, in the aggregate, in excess of US$1,000,000 for the Group Companies taken as a whole;
(i)
except as required pursuant to any Company Employee Plan or any employment agreement or compensatory agreements in
effect as of the date of this Agreement, or this Agreement, (i) enter into any new employment or compensatory agreements (including the renewal of any
such agreements), or terminate any such agreements, with any director, officer, employee or consultant of any Group Company other than the hiring or
termination of employees below the vice president level or its equivalent (e.g. the head of business unit) or with an annual compensation of less than
US$200,000, (ii) grant or provide any severance or termination payments or benefits to any director, officer, employee or consultant of any Group
Company except as required by applicable Law, (iii) increase the compensation, bonus or pension, welfare, severance or other benefits of, pay any bonus to
any director, officer, employee or consultant of any Group Company except such increases or payments, in the aggregate, do not cause an increase in the
labor costs of the Group Companies, taken as a whole, by more than 5%, or (iv) forgive any loans to any director, officer, employee or consultant of any
Group Company;
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(j)
make any changes with respect to financial accounting policies or procedures, including changes affecting the reported
consolidated assets, liabilities or results of operations of the Group Companies, except as required by changes in statutory or regulatory accounting rules or
GAAP or regulatory requirements with respect thereto;
(k)
enter into, amend, modify, consent to the termination of, or waive any material rights under, any Company Material Contract (or
any Contract that would be a Company Material Contract if such Contract had been entered into prior to the date hereof) that calls for annual aggregate
payments of US$1,000,000 or more which cannot be terminated without material surviving obligations or material penalty upon notice of ninety (90) days
or less;
(l)
enter into any Contract between the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any “related party” (as such term
is defined in Item 404 of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Exchange Act) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, on the other hand, except for
(i) Contracts solely between the Company and/or wholly-owned Company Subsidiaries and (ii) Contracts permitted under Section 5.01(i));
(m)
terminate or cancel, let lapse, or amend or modify in any material respect, other than renewals in the ordinary course of
business, any material insurance policies maintained by it which are not promptly replaced by a comparable amount of insurance coverage;
(n)

settle any Action other than any settlement involving the payment of monetary damages not in excess of US$1,000,000;

(o)
fail to perform or make any applicable filings, recordings or other similar actions or filings, or fail to pay all required fees and
Taxes required or advisable to maintain and protect its interest in each and every item of Intellectual Property owned by any Group Company;
(p)
enter into, or propose to enter into, any transaction involving any material earn-out or similar payment payable by any Group
Company, to any Third Party, other than payments in connection with purchases of vehicles, plant, equipment, supplies or computers in the ordinary course
of business;
(q)

engage in the conduct of any new line of business material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;

(r)
make or change any material Tax election, materially amend any Tax return (except as required by applicable Law), enter into
any material closing agreement with respect to Taxes, surrender any right to claim a material refund of Taxes, settle or finally resolve any material
controversy with respect to Taxes or materially change any method of Tax accounting; or
(s)

announce an intention, enter into any formal or informal agreement or otherwise make a commitment, to do any of the

foregoing.
Section 5.02
Conduct of Business by the Purchaser Pending the Acquisition. The Purchaser agrees that, from the date of this Agreement
until the earlier of the Closing and termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article VIII, except as (x) required by applicable Law or (y) expressly
contemplated or permitted by this Agreement, unless the Sellers shall otherwise consent in writing (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
delayed or conditioned), (i) the businesses of the Purchaser Group Companies shall be conducted in the ordinary course of business in a manner consistent
with past practice; and (ii) the Purchaser shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to preserve the assets and the business organization of the Purchaser
Group Companies in all material respects, to keep available the services of the current officers and key employees of the Purchaser Group Companies and
to maintain in all material respects the current relationships of the Purchaser Group Companies with existing customers, suppliers and other persons with
which any Purchaser Group Companies has material business relations as of the date hereof.
24

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing paragraph, from the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Closing and termination of this
Agreement pursuant to Article VIII, except as (x) required by applicable Law or (y) expressly contemplated or permitted by this Agreement, the Purchaser
shall not and shall not permit any other Purchaser Group Company to, directly or indirectly, do or propose to do any of the following without the prior
written consent of the Sellers (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned):
(a)

amend or otherwise change its memorandum and articles of association or equivalent organizational documents;

(b)
issue, sell, transfer, lease, sublease, license, pledge, dispose of, grant or encumber, or authorize the issuance, sale, transfer,
lease, sublease, license, pledge, disposition, grant or encumbrance of, (i) any shares of any class of any Purchaser Group Company (other than in
connection with (A) the exercise of any Purchaser Options in accordance with the Purchaser Equity Incentive Plan, (B) the withholding of Purchaser
securities to satisfy tax obligations with respect to Purchaser Options (C) the acquisition by the Purchaser of its securities in connection with the forfeiture
of Purchaser Options, or (D) the acquisition by the Purchaser of its securities in connection with the net exercise of Purchaser Options in accordance with
the terms thereof), or (ii) any property or assets (whether real, personal or mixed, and including leasehold interests and intangible property) of any
Purchaser Group Company with a value or purchase price (including the value of assumed liabilities) in excess of US$1,000,000, except in the ordinary
course of business;
(c)
declare, set aside, make or pay any dividend or other distribution, payable in cash, shares, property or otherwise, with respect to
any of its shares (other than dividends or other distributions from any Subsidiary of the Purchaser to the Purchaser or any of its other Subsidiaries);
(d)
reclassify, combine, split, subdivide or redeem, or purchase or otherwise acquire, directly or indirectly, any of its share capital
or securities or other rights exchangeable into or convertible or exercisable for any of its share capital (other than the purchase of Shares to satisfy
obligations under the Purchaser Equity Incentive Plan, including the withholding of Shares in connection with the exercise of Purchaser Options in
accordance with the terms and conditions of such Purchaser Options (as applicable));
(e)
effect or commence any liquidation, dissolution, scheme of arrangement, merger, consolidation, amalgamation, restructuring,
reorganization, public offering or similar transaction involving any Purchaser Group Company, or public offer of any new Subsidiary, other than as
contemplated by this Agreement;
(f)
acquire, whether by purchase, merger, spin off, consolidation, scheme of arrangement, amalgamation or acquisition of stock or
assets or otherwise, any assets, securities or properties, in aggregate, with a value or purchase price (including the value of assumed liabilities) in excess of
US$1,000,000 in any transaction or related series of transactions;
(g)
incur any additional Purchaser Debt or guarantee any indebtedness for borrowed money of any Third Party except for the
incurrence or guarantee of indebtedness not in an aggregate amount in excess of US$1,000,000;
(h)
other than expenditures necessary to maintain assets in good repair consistent with the past practice or pursuant to the
Purchaser’s operating plan in effect as of the date hereof, authorize, or make any commitment with respect to, any single capital expenditure which is in
excess of US$10,000,000 or capital expenditures which are, in the aggregate, in excess of US$1,000,000 for the Purchaser Group Companies taken as a
whole;
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(i)
except as required pursuant to any Purchaser Employee Plan or any employment agreement or compensatory agreements in
effect as of the date of this Agreement, or this Agreement, (i) enter into any new employment or compensatory agreements (including the renewal of any
such agreements), or terminate any such agreements, with any director, officer, employee or consultant of any Purchaser Group Company other than the
hiring or termination of employees below the vice president level or its equivalent (e.g. the head of business unit) or with an annual compensation of less
than US$200,000, (ii) grant or provide any severance or termination payments or benefits to any director, officer, employee or consultant of any Purchaser
Group Company except as required by applicable Law, (iii) increase the compensation, bonus or pension, welfare, severance or other benefits of, pay any
bonus to any director, officer, employee or consultant of any Purchaser Group Company except such increases or payments, in the aggregate, do not cause
an increase in the labor costs of the Purchaser Group Companies, taken as a whole, by more than 5%, (iv) make any new equity awards to any person under
the Purchaser Equity Incentive Plan, (v) establish, adopt, amend or terminate any Purchaser Employee Plan or materially amend the terms of any
outstanding Purchaser Options, (vi) take any action to accelerate the vesting of Purchaser Options, or (vii) forgive any loans to any director, officer,
employee or consultant of any Purchaser Group Company;
(j)
make any changes with respect to financial accounting policies or procedures, including changes affecting the reported
consolidated assets, liabilities or results of operations of the Purchaser Group Companies, except as required by changes in statutory or regulatory
accounting rules or GAAP or regulatory requirements with respect thereto;
(k)
enter into, amend, modify, consent to the termination of, or waive any material rights under, any Purchaser Material Contract (or
any Contract that would be a Purchaser Material Contract if such Contract had been entered into prior to the date hereof) that calls for annual aggregate
payments of US$1,000,000 or more which cannot be terminated without material surviving obligations or material penalty upon notice of ninety (90) days
or less;
(l)
enter into any Contract between the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any “related party” (as such term
is defined in Item 404 of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Exchange Act) of the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries, on the other hand, except for
(i) Contracts solely between the Purchaser and/or its wholly-owned Subsidiaries and (ii) Contracts permitted under Section 5.01(i));
(m)
terminate or cancel, let lapse, or amend or modify in any material respect, other than renewals in the ordinary course of
business, any material insurance policies maintained by it which are not promptly replaced by a comparable amount of insurance coverage;
(n)

settle any Action other than any settlement involving the payment of monetary damages not in excess of US$1,000,000;

(o)
fail to perform or make any applicable filings, recordings or other similar actions or filings, or fail to pay all required fees and
Taxes required or advisable to maintain and protect its interest in each and every item of Intellectual Property owned by any Purchaser Group Company;
(p)
enter into, or propose to enter into, any transaction involving any material earn-out or similar payment payable by any Purchaser
Group Company, to any Third Party, other than payments in connection with purchases of vehicles, plant, equipment, supplies or computers in the ordinary
course of business;
(q)

engage in the conduct of any new line of business material to the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;

(r)
make or change any material Tax election, materially amend any Tax return (except as required by applicable Law), enter into
any material closing agreement with respect to Taxes, surrender any right to claim a material refund of Taxes, settle or finally resolve any material
controversy with respect to Taxes or materially change any method of Tax accounting; or
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(s)

announce an intention, enter into any formal or informal agreement or otherwise make a commitment, to do any of the

foregoing.
Section 5.03
No Control of Other Party’s Business. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, nothing contained in this Agreement is
intended to give the Purchaser, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the Company’s or the Company’s Subsidiaries’ operations prior to the
Closing, and nothing contained in this Agreement is intended to give the Sellers, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the Purchaser’s
operations. Prior to the Closing, each of the Purchaser and the Sellers shall exercise, consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, complete
control and supervision over its and its Subsidiaries’ respective operations.
Section 5.04
Additional Interim Covenants. Each of the Purchaser and the Sellers agrees and undertakes to each other on the followings (as
applicable), from the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Closing and termination of this Agreement:
(a)
As the Purchaser’s undertaking in favor of the Sellers, the Purchaser shall use its best efforts to fulfill or cause the fulfilment of
the conditions to the Sellers’ obligations at Closing as set forth in Sections 7.01 and Section 7.03.
(b)
As the Sellers’ undertaking in favor of the Purchaser, each Seller shall use its best efforts to fulfill or cause the fulfilment of the
conditions to the Purchaser’s obligations at Closing as set forth in Sections 7.01 and 7.02.
ARTICLE VI
ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS
Section 6.01

Access to Information.

(a)
From the date hereof until the earlier of the Closing and termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article VIII and subject to
applicable Law, upon reasonable advance notice from the Purchaser, the Sellers shall (i) provide to the Purchaser (and the Purchaser’s officers, directors,
employees, accountants, consultants, financial and legal advisors, agents, financing sources (including potential sources) and other authorized
representatives of the Purchaser and such other parties, collectively, “Representatives”) reasonable access during normal business hours to the offices,
properties, books and records of any Group Company, (ii) furnish to the Purchaser and its Representatives such existing financial and operating data and
other existing information as such persons may reasonably request in writing, and (iii) instruct its and its Subsidiaries’ employees, legal counsel, financial
advisors, auditors and other Representatives to reasonably cooperate with the Purchaser and its Representatives in their investigation. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, any such investigation shall be conducted in such a manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the business or operations of the Company or
its Subsidiaries or otherwise result in any significant interference with the timely discharge by the employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries of their
duties.
(b)
From the date hereof until the earlier of the Closing and termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article VIII and subject to
applicable Law, upon reasonable advance notice from the Sellers, the Purchaser shall (i) provide to the Sellers (and the Sellers’ Representatives) reasonable
access during normal business hours to the offices, properties, books and records of any Purchaser Group Company, (ii) furnish to the Sellers and their
Representatives such existing financial and operating data and other existing information as such persons may reasonably request in writing, and
(iii) instruct its and its Subsidiaries’ employees, legal counsel, financial advisors, auditors and other Representatives to reasonably cooperate with the
Sellers and their Representatives in their investigation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any such investigation shall be conducted in such a manner as not to
interfere unreasonably with the business or operations of the Purchaser or its Subsidiaries or otherwise result in any significant interference with the timely
discharge by the employees of the Purchaser or its Subsidiaries of their duties.
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(c)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 6.01(a) and Section 6.01(b), nothing in this Agreement shall require the
Sellers (or the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries) to provide the Purchaser (or the Sellers) or any of its (or their) Representatives with access to any
books, records, documents or other information to the extent that (i) such books, records, documents or other information is subject to any confidentiality
agreement with a Third Party (provided that, at the request of the Purchaser (or the Sellers), the Sellers (or the Purchaser) shall use their (or its)
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain a waiver from such Third Party), (ii) the disclosure of such books, records, documents or other information
would result in the loss of attorney-client privilege which could not be reasonably remedied by use of common interest agreements or other methods to
maintain such privilege, or (iii) the disclosure of such books, records, documents or other information is prohibited by applicable Law.
(d)

All information provided or made available pursuant to this Section 6.01 to the Purchaser or its Representatives shall be subject

to Section 6.02.
(e)
No investigation pursuant to this Section 6.01 shall affect any representation or warranty in this Agreement of any Party or any
condition to the obligations of the Parties.
Section 6.02
Confidentiality. Except as necessary to complete the applicable SEC filings or obtain the Requisite Regulatory Approvals, each
Party shall hold and shall cause its Representatives to hold in strict confidence, unless compelled to disclose by judicial or administrative process or by
other requirements of applicable Laws, all documents and information concerning the other Parties furnished to it by such other Parties or their
Representatives in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (except to the extent that such information can be shown to have been
(a) previously known by the Party to which it was furnished, (b) in the public domain through no fault of such Party or (c) later lawfully acquired from
other sources, which source is not the agent of the other Party, by the Party to which it was furnished), and each Party shall not release or disclose such
information to any other person, except its Representatives in connection with this Agreement. In the event that any Party believes that it is required to
disclose any such confidential information pursuant to applicable Laws, such Party shall give timely written notice to the other Parties so that such Parties
may have an opportunity to obtain a protective order or other appropriate relief. Each Party shall be deemed to have satisfied its obligations to hold
confidential information concerning or supplied by the other Parties if it exercises the same care as it takes to preserve confidentiality for its own similar
information. The Parties acknowledge that some previously confidential information will be required to be disclosed in the applicable SEC filings.
Section 6.03

No Solicitation of Transactions.

Until the earlier of the Closing and termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article VIII, the Sellers agree that they shall not, and shall
cause the Company, any of its Subsidiaries and their respective Representatives (including any investment banker, attorney or accountant retained by any
Group Company) not to, in each case, directly or indirectly, (i) solicit, initiate or knowingly encourage, enter into, maintain or continue discussions or
negotiations with any Third Party in respect of, or take any other action to knowingly facilitate, any inquiries or the making of any proposal or offer
(including any proposal or offer to its shareholders) that constitutes, or that in the Sellers’ good faith judgment could reasonably be expected to lead to, any
purchase, merger or acquisition of the Company’s or any Group Company’s Equity Securities, (ii) agree to, approve, endorse, recommend or consummate
any purchase, merger or acquisition of the Company’s or any Group Company’s Equity Securities or enter into any letter of intent or Contract or
commitment contemplating or otherwise relating to any purchase, merger or acquisition of the Company’s or any Group Company’s Equity Securities,
(iii) grant any waiver, amendment or release under any standstill, confidentiality or similar agreement or Takeover Statute (and the Sellers shall promptly
take all action necessary to terminate or cause to be terminated any such waiver previously granted with respect to any provision of any such
confidentiality, standstill or similar agreement or Takeover Statute and to enforce each such confidentiality, standstill and similar agreement), (iv) engage in
any act or inaction that will materially impair or is reasonably expected to materially impair the value of the Group Companies, (v) unilaterally terminate
or withdraw from this Agreement and the Transactions, or seek such termination or withdrawal other than pursuant to Section 8.03, or (vi) authorize or
permit any of the Representatives of the Sellers, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to take any action set forth in clauses (i) – (v) of this Section 6.02.
The Sellers shall not, and shall cause the Company and its Subsidiaries not to, enter into any confidentiality agreement with any Third Party subsequent to
the date of this Agreement which prohibits the Company from providing such information to the Purchaser.
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Section 6.04
(a)
with the Transactions;
(b)

Notification of Certain Matters. Each of the Sellers and the Purchaser shall promptly notify the other in writing of:
any notice or other communication from any person alleging that the consent of such person is or may be required in connection
any notice or other communication from any Governmental Authority in connection with the Transactions;

(c)
any Actions commenced or, to the knowledge of the Sellers or the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened against the Sellers,
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or the Purchaser and any of its Subsidiaries, as the case may be, that, if pending on the date of this Agreement,
would have been required to have been disclosed by such party pursuant to any of such party’s representations and warranties contained herein, or that
relate to such party’s ability to consummate the Transactions; and
(d)
if a breach of any representation or warranty or failure to perform any covenant or agreement on the part of such Party set forth
in this Agreement shall have occurred that would cause the conditions set forth in Section 7.01, Section 7.02 or Section 7.03 not to be satisfied;
together, in each case, with a copy of any such notice, communication or Action; provided that the delivery of any notice pursuant to this
Section 6.04 shall not limit or otherwise affect the remedies available hereunder to the Party receiving such notice; provided further, that failure to give
prompt notice pursuant to Section 6.04(d) shall not constitute a failure of a condition to the Acquisition set forth in Article VII except to the extent that the
underlying breach of a representation or warranty or failure to perform any covenant or agreement not so notified would, standing alone, constitute such a
failure; provided, further, that the unintentional failure of the Sellers or the Purchaser to give notice under this Section 6.04 shall not be deemed to be a
breach of covenant under this Section 6.04 but instead shall constitute only a breach of the underlying representation or warranty or covenant or condition,
as the case may be.
Section 6.05

Further Action; Reasonable Best Efforts.

(a)
Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, each of the Parties and their respective Affiliates shall (i) make
promptly its respective filings, and thereafter make any other required submissions, with each relevant Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over
enforcement of any applicable antitrust or competition Laws with respect to the Transactions, and coordinate and cooperate fully with the other parties in
exchanging such information and providing such assistance as the other parties may reasonably request in connection therewith (including (A) obtaining
consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) from the other Parties promptly before making any substantive
communication (whether verbal or written) with any Governmental Authority in connection with such filings or submissions, (B) permitting the other
Parties to review in advance, and consulting with the other Parties on, any proposed filing, submission or communication (whether verbal or written) by
such Party to any Governmental Authority, and (C) giving the other Parties the opportunity to attend and participate at any meeting with any Governmental
Authority in respect of any filing, investigation or other inquiry); and (ii) cooperate with the other Parties and use its reasonable best efforts, and cause its
Affiliates to use their respective reasonable best efforts, to take, or cause to be taken, all appropriate action, and to do, or cause to be done, all things
necessary, proper or advisable under applicable Laws or otherwise to consummate and make effective the Transactions, including employing such
resources as are necessary to obtain the Requisite Regulatory Approvals; provided that none of the Purchaser, its Affiliates or their respective
Representatives shall be required to accept any onerous condition or mitigation measure imposed upon it that would materially and adversely affect its
interest in the Transaction, including, without limitation, to commit to or effect, by consent decree, hold separate orders, or otherwise, the restructuring,
reorganization, sale, divestiture or disposition of such of its or any of its Affiliates’ or portfolio companies’ assets, properties or businesses, or accept any
prohibition or limitation on the ownership or operation of, or any arrangement that would apply to, any of its or any of its Affiliates’ or portfolio
companies’ assets, properties or businesses.
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(b)
Each Party shall, upon request by any other Party, furnish such other Party with all information concerning itself, its Affiliates,
directors, officers and shareholders and such other matters as may be reasonably necessary or advisable in connection with any statement, filing, notice or
application made by or on behalf of the Purchaser, the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries to any Third Party and/or any Governmental
Authority in connection with the Transactions.
Section 6.06
Public Announcements. Except as may be required by applicable Law, the press release announcing the execution of this
Agreement shall be issued only in such form as shall be mutually agreed upon by the Sellers and the Purchaser. Thereafter, at any time prior to termination
of this Agreement pursuant to Article VIII, the Purchaser and the Sellers shall consult with each other before issuing any press release, having any
communication with the press (whether or not for attribution), making any other public statement or scheduling any press conference or conference call
with investors or analysts with respect to this Agreement or the Transactions and, except in respect of any such press release, communication, other public
statement, press conference or conference call as may be required by applicable Law or rules and policies of the NASDAQ, shall not issue any such press
release, have any such communication, make any such other public statement or schedule any such press conference or conference call prior to such
consultation.
Section 6.07
Takeover Statutes. If any Takeover Statute is or may become applicable to any of the Transactions, the Parties shall use their
respective reasonable best efforts (a) to take all action necessary so that no Takeover Statute is or becomes applicable to any of the Transactions and (b) if
any such Takeover Statute is or becomes applicable to any of the foregoing, to take all action necessary so that the Transactions may be consummated as
promptly as practicable on the terms contemplated by this Agreement, including all actions to eliminate or lawfully minimize the effects of such Takeover
Statute on the Transactions.
Section 6.08
Minimum Assets and No Liabilities. The Sellers shall procure that the total net assets (excluding intangible assets) and
Available Cash of the Company (on a consolidated basis) at the Closing shall be no less than the respective amounts as of November 30, 2020, which
amounts have been confirmed by the Sellers and the Purchaser before the date of this Agreement. The Sellers shall procure that, at the Closing, the
Company shall not have any material contingent or off-balance sheet liabilities.
Section 6.09
Directors and Officers of the Purchaser After Closing. Upon the Closing, Mr. Mingjun Lin (“Mr. Lin”) shall have the right to
appoint three (3) members of the Purchaser Board, including one (1) independent director, and Renren Inc. (“Renren”) shall have the right to appoint two
(2) members of the Purchaser Board, including one (1) independent director. Upon the Closing, Mr. Lin shall have the right to designate the chief executive
officer of the Purchaser (the “CEO”) to be appointed by the Purchaser Board. The CEO shall appoint other executive officers of the Purchaser.
Section 6.10
Purchaser’s Pre-Acquisition Assets. After the Closing, all cash and other assets received or recovered from all receivables,
prepayments, inventories and assets of the Purchaser, including those from its joint venture partners and distributors, before the Closing (the “PreAcquisition Assets”) shall be first used to pay the Purchaser’s borrowings from, and other liabilities to, East West Bank, Renren and its Subsidiaries, and
other creditors that are incurred before the Closing, as well as all costs and expenses associated with the collection and recovery of the Pre-Acquisition
Assets (collectively, the “Pre-Acquisition Liabilities”). If there are any Pre- Acquisition Assets remaining after the Pre- Acquisition Liabilities have been
fully settled in accordance with this Section 6.10, the use of such remaining Pre- Acquisition Assets shall be determined by a committee of the Purchaser
Board (the “Kaixin Assets Committee”) at its sole discretion with the full authorization from the Purchaser Board. Renren shall have the right to designate
the members on the Kaixin Assets Committee.
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Section 6.11
Reserved Matters. After the Closing, the Purchaser shall not, and shall procure that none of its Subsidiaries shall, take, permit to
occur, approve, authorize, or agree or commit to do anything related to the use and disposal of the Pre-Acquisition Assets without Renren’s prior written
approvalthe Purchaserthe Purchaserthe Purchaserthe Purchaser.
Section 6.12
Voting Agreement. At the request of Renren, the Sellers shall enter into a voting agreement to the reasonable satisfaction of
Renren, if and to the extent such agreement is necessary for Mr. Lin or the Sellers collectively to control the Purchaser after the Acquisition.
ARTICLE VII
CONDITIONS TO THE ACQUISITION
Section 7.01
Conditions to the Obligations of Each Party. The obligations of the Sellers and the Purchaser to consummate the Acquisition
are subject to the satisfaction or waiver (where permissible under applicable Law) of the following conditions at or prior to the Closing Date:
(a)
No Injunction. No Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or
entered any Law or award, writ, injunction, determination, rule, regulation, judgment, decree or executive order (an “Order”), whether temporary,
preliminary or permanent, which is then in effect or has the effect of enjoining, restraining, prohibiting or otherwise making illegal the consummation of
the Transactions.
(b)
Regulatory Approvals. (i) All Requisite Regulatory Approvals shall have been obtained and be in full force and effect; and
(ii) all other consents, approvals and authorizations of any Governmental Authority required to consummate the Transaction shall have been obtained and
be in full force and effect, except where the failure to obtain such other consents, approvals and authorizations or the failure of such other consents,
approvals and authorizations to be in full force and effect would not, individually or in the aggregate, have or reasonably be expected to have a Company
Material Adverse Effect.
Section 7.02
Conditions to the Obligations of the Purchaser. The obligations of the Purchaser to consummate the Acquisition are subject to
the satisfaction or waiver (where permissible under applicable Law) of the following additional conditions at or prior to the Closing Date:
(a)
Representations and Warranties. Other than the representations and warranties of the Sellers contained in Section 3.01,
Section 3.02, Section 3.03, Section 3.04 and Section 3.05, the representations and warranties of the Sellers contained in this Agreement (without giving
effect to any qualification as to “materiality” or “Company Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein) shall be true and correct as of the date hereof and as
of the Closing Date, as though made on and as of such date and time (other than representations and warranties that by their terms address matters only as
of a specified time, which shall be true and correct only as of such time), except where the failure of such representations and warranties of the Sellers to be
so true and correct do not, and would not be reasonably expected to, have a Company Material Adverse Effect, and (ii) the representations and warranties
set forth in Section 3.01, Section 3.02, Section 3.03, Section 3.04 and Section 3.05 shall be true and correct in all respects (except, solely with respect to
Section 3.03(a) and Section 3.03(b), for de minimis inaccuracies) as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, as though made on and as of such date
and time (other than representations and warranties that by their terms address matters only as of a specified time, which shall be true and correct only as of
such time).
(b)
Agreements and Covenants. The Sellers shall have performed or complied in all material respects with all agreements and
covenants required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it on or prior to the Closing Date.
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(c)

No Material Adverse Effect. No Company Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred since the date of this Agreement.

(d)
Third Party Consents. All consents and waivers required to be obtained by the Sellers from any Third Party in respect of the
Transactions shall have been obtained, and all notices required to be made by the Sellers to any Third Party prior to the Closing in respect of the
Transactions shall have been duly made by the Sellers.
(e)
Conversion of Company Ordinary Share Equivalents. All Company Ordinary Share Equivalents (other than existing
Company Ordinary Shares and Company Preferred Shares) shall have been converted into Company Ordinary Shares as of immediately prior to the
Closing.
(f)
Company Debt. The Company shall have settled its outstanding debts and other financial obligations to the reasonable
satisfaction of the Purchaser. Without prejudice to the foregoing, the Company shall satisfy the conditions set out in Section 6.08 immediately before the
Closing.
(g)
NASDAQ Approval on Listing Application. The Purchaser shall have received NASDAQ’s approval on the listing application
filed by the Purchaser in connection with the Transactions including the Acquisition and, if applicable, the Reserve Share Split.
(h)
Reverse Share Split. The Purchaser shall have obtained a special resolution of the Purchaser approving the reverse share split
for the Purchaser Shares which shall effect the proportional consolidation of the Purchaser Shares into a lower number of Purchaser Shares (the “Reverse
Share Split”) if the Reverse Share Split is necessary before the Closing in order to comply with the NASDAQ listing requirement on the minimum share
price.
(i)
Amendment of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Purchaser. The Second Amended and Restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Purchaser, as adopted by a special resolution on April 24, 2019, shall have been amended and restated in
the form reasonably satisfactory to the Purchaser and the Sellers, to reflect the Reverse Share Split (if it is necessary before the Closing) and other terms to
be amended or added as agreed between the Purchaser and the Sellers, including the agreements under Section 6.09, Section 6.10 and Section 6.11.
(j)
Termination of Shareholders Agreement. The amended and restated shareholders agreement by and among the Company and
certain of its Subsidiaries and shareholders dated November 30, 2020 and, to the extent not superceded by the foregoing, any other shareholders agreement
involving the Company shall have been duly terminated.
Section 7.03
Conditions to the Obligations of the Sellers. The obligations of the Sellers to consummate the Acquisition are subject to the
satisfaction or waiver (where permissible under applicable Law) of the following additional conditions at or prior to the Closing Date:
(a)
Representations and Warranties. Other than the representations and warranties of the Purchaser contained in Section 4.01,
Section 4.02, Section 4.03, Section 4.04 and Section 4.05, the representations and warranties of the Purchaser contained in this Agreement (without giving
effect to any qualification as to “materiality” or “Purchaser Material Adverse Effect” set forth therein) shall be true and correct as of the date hereof and
as of the Closing Date, as though made on and as of such date and time (other than representations and warranties that by their terms address matters only
as of a specified time, which shall be true and correct only as of such time), except where the failure of such representations and warranties of the Purchaser
to be so true and correct do not, and would not be reasonably expected to, have a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect, and (ii) the representations and
warranties set forth in Section 4.01, Section 4.02, Section 4.03, Section 4.04 and Section 4.05 shall be true and correct in all respects (except, solely with
respect to Section 4.03(a) and Section 4.03(b)), for de minimis inaccuracies) as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, as though made on and as of
such date and time (other than representations and warranties that by their terms address matters only as of a specified time, which shall be true and correct
only as of such time).
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(b)
Agreements and Covenants. The Purchaser shall have performed or complied in all material respects with all agreements and
covenants required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it on or prior to the Closing Date.
(c)

No Material Adverse Effect. No Purchaser Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred since the date of this Agreement.

Section 7.04
Frustration of Closing Conditions. Prior to the Termination Date, none of the Sellers or the Purchaser may rely on the failure of
any condition set forth in Article VII to be satisfied if such failure was caused by such Party’s failure to act in good faith to comply with this Agreement
and consummate the Transactions.
ARTICLE VIII
TERMINATION
Section 8.01
Termination by Mutual Consent. This Agreement may be terminated and the Transactions may be abandoned at any time prior
to the Closing by mutual written consent of the Purchaser and the Sellers.
Section 8.02
Termination by Either the Sellers or the Purchaser. This Agreement may be terminated by either all of the Sellers or the
Purchaser prior to the Closing, if:
(a)

The Closing fails to occur on or prior to June 30, 2021 (the “Termination Date”); or

(b)
any Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any final
and non-appealable Order which, or taken any other final and non-appealable action that, has the effect of making consummation of the Transactions illegal
or otherwise preventing or prohibiting consummation of the Transactions;
provided, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.02 shall not be available to any Party whose failure to fulfill any of its
obligations under this Agreement has been a material cause of, or resulted in, the failure of the applicable condition(s) being satisfied.
Section 8.03
Termination by the Sellers. This Agreement may be terminated by all of the Sellers at any time prior to the Closing, if a breach
of any representation, warranty, agreement or covenant of the Purchaser set forth in this Agreement shall have occurred, which breach (i) would give rise to
the failure of a condition set forth in Section 7.03 and, as a result of such breach, such condition would not be capable of being satisfied prior to the
Termination Date, and (ii) is incapable of being cured or, if capable of being cured, is not cured by the Purchaser within thirty (30) days following receipt of
written notice of such breach from the Sellers (or, if the Termination Date is less than thirty (30) calendar days from the date of receipt of such notice, by
the Termination Date); provided that the Sellers shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.03 if the Sellers are then in
material breach of any representations, warranties, agreements or covenants of the Sellers hereunder that would give rise to the failure of a condition set
forth in Section 7.02.
Section 8.04
Termination by the Purchaser. This Agreement may be terminated by the Purchaser at any time prior to the Closing, if a breach
of any representation, warranty, agreement or covenant of the Sellers set forth in this Agreement shall have occurred, which breach (i) would give rise to
the failure of a condition set forth in Section 7.02 and as a result of such breach, such condition would not be capable of being satisfied prior to the
Termination Date and (ii) is incapable of being cured or, if capable of being cured, is not cured by the Sellers within thirty (30) days following receipt of
written notice of such breach from the Purchaser (or, if the Termination Date is less than thirty (30) calendar days from the date of receipt of such notice, by
the Termination Date); provided that the Purchaser shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.04 if the Purchaser is then
in material breach of any representations, warranties or covenants of the Purchaser hereunder that would give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in
Section 7.03.
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Section 8.05
Effect of Termination. In the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article VIII, this Agreement shall forthwith
become void, and there shall be no liability under this Agreement on the part of any Party (or any Representative of such party); provided that the terms of
Section 6.01(c), Section 6.06, Articles VIII and IX shall survive any termination of this Agreement.
Section 8.06 Indemnification. Effective at and after the Closing, subject to the terms and conditions of this Section 8.06 and from and after the
Closing Date, the Sellers, jointly and severally, hereby agree to indemnify the Purchaser and each of its Affiliates and each of its and their respective
members, managers, partners, directors, officers, employees, shareholders, agents, successors and permitted assignees (each of the foregoing, an
“Indemnified Party”) against and hold each of them harmless from any and all damage, loss and expense (including reasonable expenses of investigation
and reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses in connection with any action, suit or proceeding whether involving a third party claim or a claim solely
between the parties hereto) (“Damages”) actually suffered by any Indemnified Party arising out of any misrepresentation or breach of warranty or covenant
in Section 3.07 and Section 6.08.
Section 8.07

Third Party Claim Procedures.

(a)
Each Indemnified Party agrees to give prompt notice in writing to the Sellers of the assertion of any claim or the
commencement of any suit, action or proceeding by any third party (“Third Party Claim”) in respect of which indemnity may be sought under such
section. Such notice shall set forth in reasonable detail such Third Party Claim and the basis for indemnification (taking into account the information then
available to the Indemnified Party). The failure to so notify the Sellers shall not relieve the Sellers of their obligations hereunder, except to the extent such
failure shall have adversely prejudiced the Sellers.
(b)
The Sellers shall be entitled to participate in the defense of any Third Party Claim and, subject to the limitations set forth in
this Section 8.07, shall be entitled to control and appoint lead counsel for such defense, in each case at its own expense.
(c)
If the Sellers shall assume the control of the defense of any Third Party Claim in accordance with the provisions of this
Section 8.07, (i) the Sellers shall obtain the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party (which shall not be unreasonably withheld) before entering into
any settlement of such Third Party Claim and (ii) the Indemnified Party shall be entitled to participate in the defense of any Third Party Claim and to
employ separate counsel of its choice for such purpose. The fees and expenses of such separate counsel shall be paid by the Indemnified Party.
(d)
Each party shall cooperate, and cause their respective affiliates to cooperate, in the defense or prosecution of any Third Party
Claim and shall furnish or cause to be furnished such records, information and testimony, and attend such conferences, discovery proceedings, hearings,
trials or appeals, as may be reasonably requested in connection therewith.
Section 8.08
Direct Claim Procedures. In the event an Indemnified Party has a claim for indemnity under Section 8.06 against the Sellers that
does not involve a Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party agrees to give prompt notice in writing of such claim to the Sellers. Such notice shall set forth
in reasonable detail such claim and the basis for indemnification (taking into account the information then available to the Indemnified Party). The failure
to so notify the Sellers shall not relieve the Sellers of their obligations hereunder, except to the extent such failure shall have prejudiced the Sellers. If the
Sellers have timely disputed its indemnity obligation for any Damages with respect to such claim, the parties shall proceed in good faith to negotiate a
resolution of such dispute and, if not resolved through negotiations, such dispute shall be resolved by arbitration pursuant to Section 9.09.
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ARTICLE IX
GENERAL PROVISIONS
Section 9.01
Non-Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements. The representations, warranties and agreements in this
Agreement and in any certificate delivered pursuant hereto shall terminate at the earlier of the Closing and termination of this Agreement pursuant to
Article VIII, except that (i) the representations, warranties and agreements made in Section 3.07 and Section 6.08 shall survive the Closing for one (1) year,
and (ii) this Section 9.01 shall not limit any covenant or agreement of the Parties which by its terms contemplates performance after the Clsing or
termination of this Agreement, including the agreements set forth in Article I and Article II, Section 6.09, Section 6.10, Section 6.11 and this Article IX.
Section 9.02
Notices. All notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given (and
shall be deemed to have been duly given upon receipt) by delivery in person, by facsimile, by electronic mail, or by international overnight courier to the
respective parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified in a notice given in accordance with this
Section 9.02):
if to the Purchaser:
4/F, Tower D, Building 15
No. 5 Jiangtai Road
Chaoyang District, Beijing
People’s Republic of China
Attention: Lucy Yang
E-mail: lucy.yang@kaixin.com
if to the Sellers:
12/F, Tower B, Fudun Centre
58 East Third Riing South Road
Chaoyang District, Beijing
People’s Republic of China
Attention: Mingjun Lin
Email: linmingjun@vip.qq.com
Section 9.03
(a)

Certain Definitions.
For purposes of this Agreement:

“Affiliate” of a specified person means a person who, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is
under common control with, such specified person.
“Anticorruption Law” means Laws relating to anti-bribery or anticorruption (governmental or commercial), which apply to the business and
dealings of any Group Company, including the PRC Law on Anti-Unfair Competition adopted on September 2, 1993, the Interim Rules on Prevention of
Commercial Bribery issued by the PRC State Administration of Industry and Commerce on November 15, 1996, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of
1977 and the United Kingdom Bribery Act 2010, as amended from time to time.
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“Available Cash” means all cash, cash equivalents and amounts under short term investments and time deposits with maturities less than 363 days
as of any relevant time of determination, of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in one or more bank accounts of the Company or its
Subsidiaries, net of issued but uncleared checks and drafts, in each case, as of the Closing Date.
“Business Day” means any day on which the principal offices of the SEC in Washington, D.C. are open to accept filings, or, in the case of
determining a date when any payment is due, any day on which banks are not required or authorized to close in New York, Hong Kong, the Cayman Islands
or Beijing, PRC.
“Company Debt” means (a) all indebtedness for borrowed money, and (b) all obligations evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or other similar
instruments of the Company and its Subsidiaries.
“Company Employee Plan” means any plan, program, policy, practice, Contract or other arrangement providing for compensation, severance,
termination pay, deferred compensation, performance awards, share or share-related awards, fringe benefits or other employee benefits or remuneration of
any kind, whether written, unwritten or otherwise, that is or has been maintained, contributed to or required to be contributed to by any Group Company for
the benefit of any current or former employee, director or officer of such Group Company, other than any employment Contract or compensatory
agreement with a current or former employee, director or officer which is not maintained for the benefit of any group or class of employees.
“Company IT Assets” means all software, systems, servers, computers, hardware, firmware, middleware, networks, data, data communications
lines, routers, hubs, switches and all other information technology equipment, and all associated documentation owned by or licensed, pursuant to valid and
enforceable license agreements, to the Company and its Subsidiaries.
“Company Material Adverse Effect” means any fact, event, circumstance, change, condition or effect that, individually or in the aggregate with
all other facts, events, circumstances, changes, conditions and effects, is or would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the business,
financial condition, or results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole; provided, however, that in no event shall any of the
following, either alone or in combination, constitute, or be taken into account in determining whether there has been or would be, a Company Material
Adverse Effect: (i) geopolitical conditions, any outbreak or escalation of war or major hostilities or any act of sabotage or terrorism or natural or man-made
disasters, epidemic or pandemic (including without limitation to COVID-19), or other force majeure events, (ii) changes in Laws, GAAP or enforcement or
interpretation thereof, in each case proposed, adopted or enacted after the date of this Agreement, (iii) changes or conditions that generally affect the
industry and market in which the Company and its Subsidiaries operate, (iv) changes in the financial, credit or other securities or capital markets, or in
general economic, business, regulatory, legislative or political conditions, including changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates, or (v) the
announcement, pendency or consummation of the Transactions or the identity of the Purchaser or its Affiliates, including any loss in respect of or change in
relationship with any customer, supplier, employee, vendor, or other business partner of the Company or the initiation of litigation or other legal proceeding
relating to this Agreement or the Transactions, (vii) any action taken by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries at the written request, or with the written
consent, of the Purchaser or expressly required by this Agreement; except, in the case of clause (ii), (iii) or (iv), to the extent having a materially
disproportionate effect on the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other participants in the industry in which the Company and its
Subsidiaries operates (in which case the incremental materially disproportionate impact or impacts may be taken into account in determining whether there
has been a Company Material Adverse Effect).
“Company Ordinary Share Equivalents” means, collectively, (a) Company Ordinary Shares, (b) Company Preferred Shares, (c) convertible
bonds, options, warrants or other securities that are directly or indirectly convertible into, exercisable for or exchangeable for Company Shares, and
(d) other Company Debt or other liabilities intended to be restructured and become convertible into Company Shares, in each case outstanding as of
immediately prior to the Closing, and excluding any Equity Securities of the Company owned by the Company as treasury shares.
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“Company Shares” means the Company Ordinary Shares and the Company Preferred Shares.
“Contract” means any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, contract, agreement, lease, license, permit, franchise or other instruments.
“control” (including the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”) means the possession, directly or indirectly, or as trustee or
executor, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or
the possession of voting power, as trustee or executor, by contract or credit arrangement or otherwise.
“Environmental Laws” means any applicable PRC national, provincial or local Law, U.S. federal, state or local Law or applicable Laws of any
other jurisdiction, relating to (a) pollution, (b) the protection of human health and safety (including workplace health and safety) or the environment,
including, without limitation, the storage, use, transport or disposal of solid and hazardous waste, discharges of substances to surface water or groundwater,
air emissions, recordkeeping, notification, disclosure and reporting requirements respecting Hazardous Substances, and all Laws relating to endangered or
threatened species of fish, wildlife and plants and the management or use of natural resources, and (c) the handling, use, transportation, disposal, release or
threatened release of any Hazardous Substance.
“Equity Securities” shall mean any share, capital stock, registered capital, partnership, member or similar interest in any entity and any option,
warrant, right or security convertible, exchangeable or exercisable therefor or any other instrument or right the value of which is based on any of the
foregoing.
“Exercise Price” means, with respect to any any Purchaser Option, the applicable exercise price per Share underlying such Purchaser Option.
“Expenses” means, with respect to any Party, all out-of-pocket fees and expenses (including all fees and expenses of counsel, accountants,
investment banking firms and other financial institutions, experts and consultants to such party and its Affiliates) actually incurred or accrued by such Party
or its Affiliates or on its or their behalf or for which it or they are liable in connection with or related to the authorization, preparation, negotiation,
execution and performance of the Transactions, the filing of any required notices under applicable Laws (including those related to Requisite Regulatory
Approvals) and all other matters related to the closing of the Acquisition and the other Transactions.
“Government Official” means any officer, employee or other individual acting in an official capacity for a Governmental Authority or agency or
instrumentality thereof (including any state-owned or controlled enterprise).
“Group Company” means any of the Company and its Subsidiaries.
“Hazardous Substance” means any materials, chemicals, pollutants, contaminants, wastes, toxic or hazardous substances, including without
limitation (a) those listed, classified or regulated under any Environmental Law as hazardous substance, toxic substance, pollutant, contaminant or oil,
(b) those that can cause harm to living organisms, human welfare, or the environment, (c) those whose presence, handling, or management requires
registration, authorization, investigation or remediation under Environmental Laws and (d) any petroleum product or by product, asbestos containing
material, polychlorinated biphenyl, radioactive material, lead, pesticides, natural gas and nuclear fuel.
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“Indebtedness” means, with respect to any person, (a) all indebtedness of such person, whether or not contingent, for borrowed money, (b) all
obligations of such person for the deferred purchase price of property or services, (c) all obligations of such person evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures
or other similar instruments, (d) all obligations of such person under currency, interest rate or other swaps, and all hedging and other obligations of such
person under other derivative instruments, (e) all indebtedness created or arising under any conditional sale or other title retention agreement with respect
to property acquired by such person (even though the rights and remedies of the seller or lender under such agreement in the event of default are limited to
repossession or sale of such property), (f) all obligations of such person as lessee under leases that have been or should be, in accordance with GAAP,
recorded as capital leases, (g) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such person under acceptance, letter of credit or similar facilities, (h) all
obligations of such person to purchase, redeem, retire, defease or otherwise acquire for value any share capital of such person or any warrants, rights or
options to acquire such share capital, valued, in the case of redeemable preferred shares, at the greater of its voluntary or involuntary liquidation preference
plus accrued and unpaid dividends, (i) all Indebtedness of others referred to in clauses (a) through (h) above guaranteed directly or indirectly in any manner
by such person, and (j) all Indebtedness referred to in clauses (a) through (h) above secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing
right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Liens on property (including accounts and contract rights) owned by such person, even though such
person has not assumed or become liable for the payment of such Indebtedness.
“Intellectual Property” means all rights, anywhere in the world, in or to: (a) patents, patent applications (and any patents that issue from those
patent application), certificates of invention, substitutions relating to any of the patents and patent applications, utility models, inventions and discoveries,
statutory invention registrations, mask works, invention disclosures, industrial designs, community designs and other designs, and any other governmental
grant for the protection of inventions or designs; (b) Trademarks; (c) works of authorship (including software) and copyrights, and moral rights, design
rights and database rights therein and thereto, whether or not registered; (d) confidential and proprietary information, including trade secrets, know-how
and invention rights; and (e) registrations, applications, renewals, reissues, reexaminations, continuations, continuations-in-part, divisions, extensions, and
foreign counterparts for any of the foregoing in clauses (a)-(c).
“knowledge” means, with respect to each of the Sellers and the Purchaser, the knowledge, after due inquiry, of any director or executive officer of
such Party.
“Leased Real Property” shall mean all material leasehold or subleasehold estates and other rights to use or occupy any land, buildings, structures,
improvements, fixtures or other interest in real property held by any Group Company or any Purchaser Group Company, as the case may be.
“Leases” shall mean all leases, subleases, licenses, concessions and other agreements (written or oral), including all amendments, extensions,
renewals, guarantees and other agreements with respect thereto, pursuant to which any Group Company or any Purchaser Group Company, as the case may
be, holds any Leased Real Property, including the right to all security deposits and other amounts and instruments deposited by or on behalf of any Group
Company or any Purchaser Group Company, as the case may be.
“Liens” means any security interest, pledge, hypothecation, mortgage, lien (including environmental and Tax liens), violation, charge, lease,
license, encumbrance, servient easement, adverse claim, reversion, reverter, preferential arrangement, restrictive covenant, condition or restriction of any
kind, including any restriction on the use, voting, transfer, receipt of income or other exercise of any attributes of ownership.
“Owned Real Property” shall mean all material real property and interests in real property, land use rights together with all buildings, structures,
improvements and fixtures located thereon, and all easements and other rights and interests appurtenant thereto, owned by any Group Company or any
Purchaser Group Company, as the case may be.
“Purchaser Board” means the board of directors of the Purchaser.
“Purchaser Debt” means (a) all indebtedness for borrowed money, and (b) all obligations evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or other similar
instruments of the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries.
38

“Purchaser Employee Plan” means any plan, program, policy, practice, Contract or other arrangement providing for compensation, severance,
termination pay, deferred compensation, performance awards, share or share-related awards, fringe benefits or other employee benefits or remuneration of
any kind, whether written, unwritten or otherwise, that is or has been maintained, contributed to or required to be contributed to by any Purchaser Group
Company for the benefit of any current or former employee, director or officer of such Purchaser Group Company, other than any employment Contract or
compensatory agreement with a current or former employee, director or officer which is not maintained for the benefit of any group or class of employees.
“Purchaser Equity Incentive Plan” means the 2019 Equity Incentive Plan and the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan of the Purchaser and all
amendments and modifications thereto.
“Purchaser Group Company” means any of the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries.
“Purchaser IT Assets” means all software, systems, servers, computers, hardware, firmware, middleware, networks, data, data communications
lines, routers, hubs, switches and all other information technology equipment, and all associated documentation owned by or licensed, pursuant to valid and
enforceable license agreements, to the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries.
“Purchaser Material Adverse Effect” means any fact, event, circumstance, change, condition or effect that, individually or in the aggregate with
all other facts, events, circumstances, changes, conditions and effects, is or would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the business,
financial condition, or results of operations of the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole; provided, however, that in no event shall any of the
following, either alone or in combination, constitute, or be taken into account in determining whether there has been or would be, a Purchaser Material
Adverse Effect: (i) geopolitical conditions, any outbreak or escalation of war or major hostilities or any act of sabotage or terrorism or natural or man-made
disasters, epidemic or pandemic (including without limitation to COVID-19), or other force majeure events, (ii) changes in Laws, GAAP or enforcement or
interpretation thereof, in each case proposed, adopted or enacted after the date of this Agreement, (iii) changes or conditions that generally affect the
industry and market in which the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries operate, (iv) changes in the financial, credit or other securities or capital markets, or in
general economic, business, regulatory, legislative or political conditions, including changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates, (v) any failure, in
and of itself, of the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries to meet any internal or published projections, estimates, budgets, plans or forecasts of revenues, earnings
or other financial performance measures or operating statistics or predictions or changes in the market price or trading volume of the securities of such
person or the credit rating of such person (it being understood that the underlying facts giving rise or contributing to such failure or change may be taken
into account in determining whether there has been a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect if such facts are not otherwise excluded under this definition),
(vi) the announcement, pendency or consummation of the Transactions or the identity of the Company or its Affiliates, including any loss in respect of or
change in relationship with any customer, supplier, employee, vendor, or other business partner of the Purchaser or the initiation of litigation or other legal
proceeding relating to this Agreement or the Transactions, (vii) any action taken by the Purchaser or any of its Subsidiaries at the written request, or with
the written consent, of the Company or expressly required by this Agreement, or (viii) any suit, claim, request for indemnification or proceeding brought by
any current or former shareholder of the Purchaser (on their own behalf or on behalf of the Purchaser) for breaches of fiduciary duties, violations of the
securities Laws or otherwise in connection with this Agreement or the Transactions; except, in the case of clause (ii), (iii) or (iv), to the extent having a
materially disproportionate effect on the Purchaser and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other participants in the industry in which the
Purchaser and its Subsidiaries operates (in which case the incremental materially disproportionate impact or impacts may be taken into account in
determining whether there has been a Purchaser Material Adverse Effect).
“Purchaser Option” means each option to purchase Purchaser Shares and each restricted share or restricted share unit exchangeable for Purchaser
Shares, granted under the Purchaser Equity Incentive Plan on or prior to the Closing Date whether or not such option, restricted share or restricted share
unit has become vested on or prior to the Closing Date in accordance with the terms thereof.
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“Purchaser Ordinary Share Equivalents” means, collectively, (a) Purchaser Shares, (c) convertible bonds, options, warrants or other securities
that are directly or indirectly convertible into, exercisable for or exchangeable for Purchaser Shares, and (c) Purchaser Debt or other liabilities intended to
be restructured and become convertible into Purchaser Shares, in each case outstanding as of immediately prior to the Closing, and excluding any Equity
Securities of the Purchaser owned by the Purchaser as treasury shares.
“Permitted Liens” shall mean (i) all defects, exceptions, restrictions, easements, rights of way and encumbrances disclosed in policies of title
insurance; (ii) mechanics’, carriers’, workers’, repairers’ and similar statutory Liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of business for amounts
(A) that are not delinquent, (B) that are not material to the business, operations and financial condition of any Group Company or any Purchaser Group
Company, as applicable, so encumbered, either individually or in the aggregate, and (C) that are not resulting from a breach, default or violation by any
Group Company or any Purchaser Group Company, as applicable, of any Contract or Law; and (iii) Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable or which are
being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings (and for which adequate accruals or reserves have been established in accordance to GAAP).
“person” means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability company, syndicate, person (including a “person” as
defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), trust, association or entity or government, political subdivision, agency or instrumentality of a
government.
“Preferred Shares Conversion Ratio” with respect to each Company Preferred Share means the conversion ratio equal to the number of Company
Ordinary Shares convertible from such Company Preferred Share, as adjusted based on the articles of association of the Company and the relevant
resolutions, consents and waivers.
“RMB” means Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC.
“SEC”” means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any party, any person (x) of which such party or any other Subsidiary of such party is a general or managing
partner, (y) of which at least a majority of the securities (or other interests having by their terms ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of
directors or other performing similar functions with respect to such corporation or other organization) is, directly or indirectly, owned or controlled by such
party or by any one or more of its Subsidiaries, or by such party and one or more of its Subsidiaries or (z) whose assets and financial results are
consolidated with the net earnings of such party and are recorded on the books of such party for financial reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP.
“Taxes” means any and all taxes, fees, levies, duties, tariffs, imposts and other charges of any kind (together with any and all interest, penalties,
additions to tax and additional amounts imposed with respect thereto) imposed by any Governmental Authority or taxing authority, including taxes or other
charges on or with respect to income, franchise, windfall or other profits, gross receipts, occupation, property, real estate, deed, land use, sales, use, capital
stock, payroll, severance, employment (including withholding obligations imposed on employer/payer), social security, workers’ compensation,
unemployment compensation or net worth; taxes or other charges in the nature of excise, withholding (as payor or payee), ad valorem, stamp, transfer,
value-added or gains taxes; license, registration and documentation fees; and customers’ duties, tariffs and similar charges.
“Third Party” means any person or “group” (as defined under Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act) of persons, other than the Purchaser or any of
its Affiliates or Representatives.
“Trademarks” means trademarks, service marks, logos, slogans, brand names, domain names, uniform resource locators, trade dress, trade names,
corporate names, geographical indications and other identifiers of source or goodwill, including the goodwill symbolized thereby or associated therewith,
in any and all jurisdictions, whether or not registered.
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“Trading Day” means a day on which trading in the Purchaser Shares (or other Equity Security of the Purchaser for which a closing sale price
must be determined) generally occurs on the NASDAQ.
“Transaction Documents” means this Agreement and the other agreements or documents required to be executed and/or delivered by any Party in
connection with the execution of this Agreement or the consummation of the Transactions.
(b)

The following terms have the meaning set forth in the Sections set forth below:

Defined Term
Action
Agreement
Acquisition
Bankruptcy and Equity Exception
CEO
Closing
Closing Date
Company
Company Intellectual Property
Company Material Contracts
Company Ordinary Share(s)
Company Preferred Share(s)
Company Series A Preferred Shares
Company Series A-1 Preferred Shares
Consideration Shares
Damages
Environmental Permits
Exchange Act
GAAP
Governmental Authority
HKIAC Rules
Indemnified Party
Kaixin Assets Committee
Law
Material Company Permits
Material Purchaser Permits
Mr. Lin
NASDAQ
Order
Purchaser
Purchaser Intellectual Property
Purchaser Material Contracts
Purchaser SEC Reports
Party(ies)
PRC
Pre-Acquisition Assets
Pre- Acquisition Liabilities
Purchaser Share(s)
Purchaser Preferred Share
Renren
Representatives
Requisite Regulatory Approvals
Reverse Share Split

Location of Definition
Section 4.09
Preamble
Recitals
Section 3.04
Section 6.09
Section 2.01(a)
Section 2.01(a)
Recitals
Section 3.13(a)
Section 3.16
Section 3.03(a)
Section 3.03(a)
Section 3.03(a)
Section 3.03(a)
Section 1.01
Section 8.06
Section 3.17
Section 4.05(b)
Section 3.07(a)
Section 3.05(b)
Section 9.09(b)
Section 8.06
Section 6.10
Section 3.05(a)
Section 3.06(a)
Section 3.06(a)
Section 6.09
Section 4.05(b)
Section 7.01(a)
Preamble
Section 3.13(a)
Section 4.16
Section 4.07(c)
Preamble
Section 3.06(a)
Section 6.10
Section 6.10
Section 4.03(a)
Section 4.03(a)
Section 6.09
Section 6.01(a)
Section 4.05(b)
Section 7.02(h)
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Defined Term
SAFE
SAFE Rules and Regulations
Sale Shares
Securities Act
Seller(s)
Takeover Statute
Termination Date
Third Party Claim
Trade Secrets
Transactions

Location of Definition
Section 3.06(a)
Section 3.06(d)
Section 1.01
Section 4.07(c)
Preamble
Section 3.19
Section 8.02(a)
Section 8.07
Section 3.13(f)
Section 3.04

Section 9.04
Severability. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of
Law, or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or
legal substance of the Transactions is not affected in any manner adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid,
illegal or incapable of being enforced, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as
closely as possible in a mutually acceptable manner in order that the Transactions be consummated as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.
Section 9.05
Interpretation. When a reference is made in this Agreement to a Section, Article or Exhibit such reference shall be to a Section,
Article or Exhibit of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement or in any Exhibit are for
convenience of reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. All words used in this Agreement
will be construed to be of such gender or number as the circumstances require. Any capitalized terms used in any Exhibit but not otherwise defined therein
shall have the meaning set forth in this Agreement. All Exhibits annexed hereto or referred to herein are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this
Agreement as if set forth herein. The word “including” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement will mean “including, without
limitation,” unless otherwise specified. The words “hereof,” “herein” and “hereunder” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall
refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. The definitions contained in this Agreement are applicable to the
singular as well as the plural forms of such terms and to the masculine as well as to the feminine and neuter genders of such term. Any agreement,
instrument or statute defined or referred to herein or in any agreement or instrument that is referred to herein means such agreement, instrument or statute
as from time to time amended, modified or supplemented, including (in the case of agreements or instruments) by waiver or consent and (in the case of
statutes) by succession of comparable successor statutes and references to all attachments thereto and instruments incorporated therein. References to a
person are also to its permitted successors and assigns. References to clauses without a cross-reference to a Section or subsection are references to clauses
within the same Section or, if more specific, subsection. References from or through any date shall mean, unless otherwise specified, from and including or
through and including, respectively. The symbol “US$” refers to United States Dollars. All US$ amounts used in this Agreement include the equivalent
amount denominated in other currencies. The word “extent” in the phrase “to the extent” means the degree to which a subject or other thing extends and
such phrase shall not mean simply “if.” References to “day” shall mean a calendar day unless otherwise indicated as a “Business Day.”
Section 9.06
Entire Agreement; Assignment. This Agreement (including the Exhibits and Schedules hereto) constitutes the entire agreement
among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and undertakings, both written and oral, among the parties,
or any of them, with respect to the subject matter hereof (for the avoidance of doubt, including the binding term sheet by and between the Company and the
Purchaser dated on or about November 3, 2020. This Agreement shall not be assigned (whether pursuant to a merger, by operation of law or otherwise).
Any purported assignment in violation of this Section 9.06 is void.
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Section 9.07
Parties in Interest. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each Party, and nothing in this
Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other person any right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by
reason of this Agreement; provided, however, that in no event shall any holders of Company Shares, in each case in their capacity as such, have any right,
benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Parties agree that
Mr. Lin shall be able to enforce his rights under Section 6.09, and Renren shall be able to enforce its rights under Section 6.09, Section 6.10 and
Section 6.11.
Section 9.08

Specific Performance.

(a)
Subject to Section 9.08(b), the Parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event any provision of this Agreement
were not performed in accordance with the terms hereof by the parties, and that money damages or other legal remedies would not be an adequate remedy
for such damages. Accordingly, subject to Section 9.08(b), the Parties acknowledge and hereby agree that in the event of any breach by the Sellers, on the
one hand, or the Purchaser, on the other hand, of any of their respective covenants or obligations set forth in this Agreement, the Sellers, on the one hand,
or the Purchaser, on the other hand, shall each be entitled to specific performance of the terms hereof (including the obligation of the parties to consummate
the Acquisition, subject in each case to the terms and conditions of this Agreement), including an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this
Agreement by any party, in addition to any other remedy at law or equity.
(b)
Each party waives (i) any defenses in any action for an injunction or other appropriate form of specific performance or
equitable relief, including the defense that a remedy at law would be adequate, and (ii) any requirement under any Law to post a bond or other security as a
prerequisite to obtaining an injunction or other appropriate form of specific performance or equitable relief. Notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, (x) while the Parties may pursue a grant of specific performance, neither the Purchaser, on the one hand, nor the Sellers, on the other hand, shall
be permitted or entitled to receive both a grant of specific performance that results in a Closing and payment of such amounts, and (y) upon the payment of
such amounts, the remedy of specific performance shall not be available against the party making such payment and, if such party is the Purchaser, any
other member of the Purchaser Group or, if such party is the Sellers, any Group Companies.
Section 9.09

Governing Law; Dispute Resolution.

(a)
This Agreement shall be interpreted, construed and governed by and in accordance with the Laws of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region without regard to the conflicts of law principles thereof that would subject such matter to the Laws of another jurisdiction.
(b)
Any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, including any question regarding its existence, validity or
termination, shall be referred to and finally resolved by arbitration in Hong Kong in accordance with the Hong Kong International Arbitration Center
Administered Arbitration Rules (the “HKIAC Rules”) in force when the notice of arbitration is submitted in accordance with the HKIAC Rules. The
HKIAC Rules are deemed to be incorporated by reference to this clause. The tribunal shall be comprised of three arbitrators. the Purchaser, on one hand,
and the Sellers, on the other hand, shall each nominate one arbitrator and the third, who shall serve as president of the tribunal, shall be nominated by the
party-nominated arbitrators. The arbitration shall be conducted in English. Each Party irrevocably and unconditionally consents to such arbitration as the
sole and exclusive method of resolving any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, including any question regarding its existence,
validity or termination, other than any proceedings to seek the remedies of specific performance as contemplated by Section 9.08.
(c)
The award of the arbitral tribunal shall be final and binding on the Parties. The Parties agree that they will not have recourse to
any judicial proceedings, in any jurisdiction whatsoever, for the purpose of seeking appeal, annulment, setting aside, modification or any diminution or
impairment of its terms or effect insofar as such exclusion can validly be made. Judgment upon any award rendered may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction thereof, or application may be made to such court for a judicial acceptance of the award and an order of enforcement, as the case may be.
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Section 9.10
Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY WAIVES TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED
BY APPLICABLE LAW ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO ANY LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR
INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF, UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS. EACH OF THE PARTIES
HERETO HEREBY (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED,
EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE
FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER
THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS Section 9.10.
Section 9.11

Amendment. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed by each of the Parties.

Section 9.12
Further Assurances. Each Party agrees (a) to furnish upon request to each other such further information, (b) to execute and
deliver to each other such other documents, and (c) to do such other acts and things, all as the other party may reasonably request for the purpose of
carrying out the intent of this Agreement and the documents referred to in this Agreement.
Section 9.13
Waiver. At any time prior to the Closing, any Party may (i) extend the time for the performance of any obligation or other act of
any other Party, (ii) waive any inaccuracy in the representations and warranties of any other Party contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant
hereto and (iii) waive compliance with any agreement of any other Party or any condition to its own obligations contained herein. Any such extension or
waiver shall be valid if set forth in an instrument in writing signed by the Party or Parties to be bound thereby. No failure or delay by any Party in
exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or
further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege.
Section 9.14
Expenses. Except as may be otherwise agreed in writing between the Purchaser and the Sellers, (i) if the Closing occurs and the
Acquisition is completed, all Expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the Transactions shall be borne and paid by the Purchaser, and
(ii) the Closing fails to occur and the Acquisition fails to be completed, all Expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the Transactions shall
be paid by the Party incurring such Expenses.
Section 9.15
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed and delivered (including by e-mail of PDF or scanned versions or facsimile
transmission) in one or more counterparts, and by the different Parties in separate counterparts, each of which when executed shall be deemed to be an
original but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.
[Remainder of Page Left Blank Intentionally]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above by their respective directors or
officers thereunto duly authorized.
KAIXIN AUTO HOLDINGS
By:
/s/ James Liu
Name: James Liu
Title: Director
YUNFEIYANG LIMITED
By:
/s/ Mingjun Lin
Name: Mingjun Lin
Title: Director
QIANGQIANG LIMITED
By:
/s/ Yun Wu
Name: Yun Wu
Title: Director
AADD LIMITED
By:
/s/ Da An
Name: Da An
Title: Director
HJDXL LIMITED
By:
/s/ Xiaolei Ding
Name: Xiaolei Ding
Title: Director
DINGQIN LIMITED
By:
/s/ Shiqiong Hu
Name: Shiqiong Hu
Title: Director
WIRELESSROCK INC.
By:
/s/ Leilei Wang
Name: Leilei Wang
Title: Director
RIGHT ADVANCE MANAGEMENT LIMITED
By:
/s/ Limei Wang
Name: Limei Wang
Title: Director
FIT RUN LIMITED
By:
/s/ Jun Han
Name: Jun Han
Title: Director
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SCHEDULE I
SALE SHARES AND CONSIDERATION SHARES
SHAREHOLDER

SALE SHARES

CONSIDERATION SHARES

Yunfeiyang Limited

4,657,628 Company Shares
(all of which are Company Ordinary Shares)

31,289,189 Purchaser Shares

Qiangqiang Limited

1,080,032 Company Shares
(all of which are Company Ordinary Shares)

7,255,480 Purchaser Shares

FIT RUN LIMITED

1,078,930 Company Shares
(including 584,512 Company Ordinary Shares and 494,418 Company
Series A-1 Preferred Shares)

7,248,077 Purchaser Shares

Aadd Limited

1,077,828 Company Shares
(all of which are Company Ordinary Shares)

7,240,673 Purchaser Shares

Wirelessrock Inc.

900,000 Company Shares
(all of which are Company Series A Preferred Shares)

6,046,054 Purchaser Shares

RIGHT ADVANCE
MANAGEMENT LIMITED

900,000 Company Shares
(all of which are Company Series A Preferred Shares)

6,046,054 Purchaser Shares

Hjdxl Limited

800,000 Company Shares
(including 600,000 Company Ordinary Shares and 200,000 Company
Series A Preferred Shares)

5,374,270 Purchaser Shares

DingQin Limited

526,316 Company Shares
(all of which are Company Series A-1 Preferred Shares)

3,535,705 Purchaser Shares

Total

11,020,734 Company Shares
(including 8,000,000 Company Ordinary Shares, 2,000,000 Company
Series A Preferred Shares and 1,020,734 Company Series A-1 Preferred
Shares)

74,035,502 Purchaser Shares
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Haitaoche Limited:
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Haitaoche Limited (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2018 and 2019, the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the
period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB and in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control
over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ Marcum Bernstein & Pinchuk LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.
Beijing, China
January 6, 2021
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HAITAOCHE LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
As of December 31,
2018
2019
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Inventories
Amount due from related parties
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Intangible asset, net
Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets

$

$

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Advances from customers
Income tax payable
Amount due to related parties
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Total liabilities

$

Shareholders’ equity
Preferred shares (par value of $0.001 per share; 2,526,316 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively)
Ordinary shares (par value of $0.001 per share; 47,473,684 shares authorized, 8,000,000 shares issued
and outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively)
Additional paid-in capital
Statutory reserve
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

18,280
43,883
254,360
1,218,891
1,535,414
3,621
8,438
4,160,540
4,172,599
5,708,013

$

456,838
36,838
5,083,529
27,555
5,604,760

$

2,526

5,708,013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

85,354
3,479
278,836
5,079
372,748

2,526

8,000
1,583,790
7,565
(1,447,468)
(51,160)
103,253
$
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$

3,545
195,998
4,554
204,097
2,095
7,234
4,174,438
4,183,767
4,387,864

8,000
5,492,875
7,565
(1,557,118)
61,268
4,015,116
$

4,387,864

HAITAOCHE LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
For the years ended
December 31,
2018
2019
Net revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit

$

Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses
Operating Loss

154,600,459
(154,016,779)
583,680

$

45,848,384
(45,661,792)
186,592

(324,051)
(263,619)
(3,990)

(195,044)
(127,260)
(135,712)

Interest expense
Foreign currency exchange gains (loss)
Other income, net

(21,053)
30,058
3,313

(2,898)
(31,838)
60,798

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net loss

8,328
(51,359)
(43,031)

(109,650)
(109,650)

Other comprehensive (loss) income
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of nil income taxes
Total comprehensive (loss) income

(6,539)
(49,570)

$

Net loss per ordinary share:
Basic and diluted
Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding
Basic and diluted

(0.0054)
8,000,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

112,428
2,778

(0.0137)
8,000,000

HAITAOCHE LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)

Balance as of December 31, 2017
Net loss
Appropriation to statutory reserve
Foreign currency translation
adjustment, net of nil income
taxes
Balance as of December 31, 2018
Capital contribution
Net loss
Foreign currency translation
adjustment, net of nil income
taxes
Balance as of December 31, 2019

Preferred shares
Shares
Amount
2,526,316
$
2,526
-

Ordinary shares
Shares
Amount
8,000,000
$
8,000
-

2,526,316

2,526

8,000,000

-

-

2,526

8,000,000

$

2,526,316

$

$

$

Additional
paid-in
capital
1,583,790
-

7,565

Accumulated
deficit
(1,396,872)
(43,031)
(7,565)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
(loss) income
(44,621)
-

Total
shareholders'
equity
152,823
(43,031)
-

(6,539)
(51,160)

(6,539)
103,253

Statutory
reserve

8,000

1,583,790

7,565

(1,447,468)

-

3,909,085
-

-

(109,650)

-

8,000

5,492,875

7,565

(1,557,118)

112,428
61,268

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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3,909,085
(109,650)
112,428
4,015,116

HAITAOCHE LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
For the years ended
December 31,
2018
2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income tax benefit
Interest expense of short-term borrowings
Foreign currency exchange (loss) gains
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Amount due from related parties
Advances from customers
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Amount due to related parties
Income tax payable
Other non-current assets
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

$

(43,031)

$

3,019
161
18,126
(30,058)

2,599
31,838

788,206
215,616
90,028
(1,857,184)
8,798
585,924
35,080
(185,315)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

43,677
1,208,541
55,637
(368,662)
(22,306)
(551,813)
(33,158)
(97,819)
158,884

-

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repayments of short-term borrowings
Proceeds from interests-free borrowings from a related party
Repayments of interest-free borrowings to related parties
Capital contribution
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

-

(172,247)
322,286
150,039

Effect of exchange rate changes

143,992

$

(14,735)
18,280
3,545

$
$

33,158
-

$

(36,869)
55,149
18,280

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Income tax paid
Interest paid

$
$

16,118
20,984
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405,319
(4,632,015)
3,909,085
(317,611)

(1,593)

Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at beginning of year
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(109,650)

HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
1.

ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
Haitaoche Limited (“Haitaoche” or the “Company”) is a holding company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on January 13,
2015. The Company commenced operations through its variable interest entities (“VIEs”) in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). The
Company is mainly engaged in sales of imported automobiles in PRC.
The consolidated financial statements reflect the activities of Haitaoche and each of the following entities:

Name
Wholly owned subsidiaries
Haitaoche Hongkong Limited (Haitaoche HK)
Ningbo Taohaoche Technology Co., Ltd. (Wholly
Foreign-owned Enterprise “WFOE” or “Ningbo
Taohaoche”)
VIEs
Ningbo Jiusheng Automobile Sales and Services Co.,
Ltd. (“Ningbo Jiusheng”)
Qingdao Shengmeilianhe Import Automobile Sales
Co., Ltd. (“Qingdao Shengmei”)

Percentage of
effective
ownership

Date of
Incorporation

Place of
incorporation

Principal
Activities

January 28, 2015

HK

100%

Investment holding
company

July 11, 2019

PRC

100%

WFOE, a holding
company

September 18, 2017

PRC

VIE

Sales of automobiles

November 4, 2013

PRC

VIE

Sales of automobiles

Reorganization
Haitaoche and its wholly-owned subsidiary Haitaoche HK were established as the holding companies of Ningbo Taohaoche. Ningbo Taohaoche
entered into a series of contractual arrangements with VIEs and VIEs’ shareholders on July 11, 2019, which allow Haitaoche to exercise effective
control over VIEs and receive substantially all the economic benefits of them. These contractual agreements include Power of Attorneys,
Exclusive Option Agreements, Exclusive Consulting and Service Agreements, Equity Pledge Agreements (collectively “VIE Agreements”).
In October and November 2020, Haitaoche, WFOE, Haitaoche VIE Entities and their nominee equity holder renewed the VIE agreement through
a series of amended and restated contractual agreements and arrangements, in which no substantial change except for the change of nominee
shareholder compared to the version signed in July, 2019.
As a result of these contractual arrangements, the Company is fully and exclusively responsible for the management of VIEs, assumes all of risk
of losses of VIEs and has the exclusive right to exercise all voting rights of VIEs’ equity holders. Therefore, the Company is considered the
primary beneficiary of VIEs and has consolidated the assets, liabilities, results of operations, and cash flows of them.
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HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
1.

ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – continued
Haitaoche, Ningbo Jiusheng and Qingdao Shengmei are under common ownership before and after the reorganization, thus the consolidation of
VIEs is accounted for in the manner consistent with a reorganization of entities under common control at carrying value. The consolidation of the
Company has been prepared on the basis as if the reorganization had become effective as of the beginning of the first period presented in the
consolidated financial statements.
The VIE contractual arrangements
Other subsidiaries of Haitaoche Group and the original nominal shareholders of the two VIEs are doing advertising business in China which is the
restricted industry and the government’s policies on WOFE and restricted industries changes from time to time. Haitaoche HK and Ningbo
Taohaoche are considered a foreign-invested enterprise. To comply with PRC laws and regulations, Haitaoche primarily conducts its business in
China through VIEs, based on a series of contractual arrangements. The following is a summary of the contractual arrangements that provide
Haitaoche with effective control of its VIEs and that enables it to receive substantially all the economic benefits from their operations.
Each of the VIE Agreements is described in detail below:
Business Operation Agreement
Pursuant to the Business Operation Agreement, among WFOE and VIEs and their equity holders dated on July 11, 2019, each shareholder of VIEs
confirms and agrees that without prior written consent of WFOE or other parties designated by WFOE, VIEs shall not engage in any transaction
that would have material effects on its assets, business, personnel, obligations, rights and operation. VIEs and the shareholder agree to accept
WFOE's proposals from time to time relating to the employment or dismissal of employees, daily operation and management, and financial
management system, and strictly implement the same. The shareholder agrees that it shall issue the power of attorney, whereby, the shareholder
shall irrevocably authorize WFOE’s designee to exercise the shareholder's rights on behalf of the shareholder, and exercise all voting rights in the
name of the shareholder in the shareholder’s meeting of VIEs. The shareholder further agrees to replace the person authorized in such power of
attorney, in accordance with WFOE's requirement at any time. WFOE shall have the right to decide whether to terminate all the agreements
between WFOE and VIEs, including by not limited to the Exclusive Consultancy and Services Agreement.
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HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
1.

ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – continued
Agreement on Disposal of Equity and Assets
Pursuant to the Agreement on Disposal of Equity and Assets, among WFOE and VIEs and their equity holders dated on July 11, 2019, the parties
agree that from the effective date of this agreement, save as disclosed to WFOE and approved by WFOE in writing in advance, WFOE has the
exclusive option to purchase or designate a third party to purchase at any time, all the equity interest held by the authorizing party in VIEs or all
the assets owned by VIEs, at the lowest price permitted under the laws and regulations of the People's Republic of China at the time of the
exercise of such option. This option shall be granted to WFOE upon the effectiveness of this agreement after it is executed by all parties, and such
option shall be irrevocably and shall not be changed during the term of this agreement. This agreement shall come into force upon the execution
by all parties and have a term of ten years. Before the expiration of this agreement, if WFOE requests, this agreement shall be renewed according
to WFOE's request, and the parties shall enter into another agreement on disposal of equity and assets or continue to perform this agreement as
required by WFOE.
Exclusive Consultancy and Services Agreement
Pursuant to the Exclusive Consultancy and Services Agreement, dated July 11, 2019, between WFOE and VIEs, WFOE agrees to provide relevant
consultation and services to WFOE as the sole consulting and services provider of VIEs. VIEs agrees to accept the consultation and services
provided by WFOE within the validity period of this agreement. VIEs further agrees that, except with the prior written consent of WFOE, VIEs
shall not accept any consultation and services provided by any third party within the business scope set forth in this agreement during the term of
this agreement. WFOE shall have sole and exclusive rights to and interests in all rights, ownership, interests and intellectual property rights arising
from the performance of this agreement. VIEs undertakes that if it intends to conduct any business cooperation with other enterprises, it shall
obtain the consent of WFOE, and under equal conditions, WFOE or its affiliated companies shall have the priority of cooperation. The parties
agree that for each financial quarter when VIEs make profit, VIEs shall determine and pay the services fee.
Equity Pledge Agreement
Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, dated July 11, 2019 between WFOE, VIEs, and the equity holders of VIEs, the equity holders of VIEs,
shall pledge all its Equity Interest in VIEs to WFOE as security for WFOE’s rights and interest. Unless otherwise expressly approved in writing by
WFOE after the effectiveness of the agreement, the pledge hereunder may be discharged only after VIEs and the pledger have properly fulfilled all
their duties and obligations under all the agreements, which shall be acknowledged by WFOE in writing. During the term of the pledge, if VIEs
fail to pay service fee pursuant to the Exclusive Consultancy and Services Agreement, or fails to perform other terms of such agreement or any
terms of the Business Operation Agreement and the Agreement on Disposal of Equity and Assets, WFOE shall have the right to enforce the pledge
right pursuant to this agreement with a reasonable notice.
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HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
1.

ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – continued
Risks in relation to the VIE structure
On March 15, 2019, the National People’s Congress approved the Foreign Investment Law, or the FIL, which took effect on January 1, 2020. The
FIL does not explicitly classify whether variable interest entities that are controlled through contractual arrangements would be deemed as foreign
invested enterprises if they are ultimately “controlled” by foreign investors. Since the FIL is relatively new, uncertainties still exist in relation to its
interpretation and implementation, and it is still unclear how the FIL would affect variable interest entity structure and business operation.
Haitaoche believes that the contractual arrangements with its VIEs and their respective equity holders are in compliance with PRC laws and
regulations and are legally enforceable. However, uncertainties in the PRC legal system could limit the Company’s ability to enforce the
contractual arrangements. If the legal structure and contractual arrangements were found to be in violation of PRC laws and regulations, the PRC
government could:
●

revoke the business and operating licenses of the Company’s PRC subsidiary and VIEs;

●

discontinue or restrict the operations of any related-party transactions between the Company’s PRC subsidiary and VIEs;

●

limit the Company’s business expansion in China by way of entering into contractual arrangements;

●

impose fines or other requirements with which the Company’s PRC subsidiary and VIEs may not be able to comply;

●

require the Company or the Company’s PRC subsidiary and VIEs to restructure the relevant ownership structure or operations; or

●

restrict or prohibit the Company’s use of the proceeds of the additional public offering to finance the Company’s business and operations in
PRC.

The Company’s business has been directly operated by the VIEs. As of December 31, 2018 and 2019, the VIEs accounted for an aggregate of
100% and 99.99%, respectively, of the Company’s consolidated total assets, and 100% and 99.87% respectively of the Company’s consolidated
total liabilities.
As of December 31, 2018 and 2019, there were no pledge or collateralization of the VIEs’ assets that can only be used to settle obligations of the
VIEs. The amount of the net assets of the VIEs was $103,253 and $4,015,327 as of December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively. The creditors of
the VIEs’ third-party liabilities did not have recourse to the general credit of Haitaoche in normal course of business. Haitaoche has not provided
any financial support to VIEs for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019.
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HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).
(b) Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Haitaoche, its subsidiaries, its VIEs for which Haitaoche is the
primary beneficiary. All inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated upon consolidation.
(c) Liquidity condition
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019, the Company incurred net losses from operations of $43,031 and $109,650. As of
December 31, 2018 and 2019, the Company suffered accumulated deficit of $1,447,468 and $1,557,118, and had net current liability of
$4,069,346 and $168,651. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019, the Company generated net cash outflow and inflow from
operating activities amounting to $185,315 and $158,884, respectively. These factors raised substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The Company’s operating results for future periods are subject to uncertainties and it is uncertain if the Company
will be able to reduce or eliminate its net losses for the foreseeable future. If management is not able to increase revenue and/or manage
operating expenses in line with revenue forecasts, the Company may not be able to achieve profitability.
For the next 12 months from the issuance date of this report, the Company plans to continue implementing various measures to boost revenue
by expanding their business scope to domestic cars sales along with imported cars sales, especially for those domestic clean energy
automobiles. In addition, the Company is also working on controlling the cost and expenses within an acceptable level as well as enhancing
payable management, and creating synergy of the Company’s resources, which has considered the impact of COVID-19 as disclosed in Note
11 to the consolidated financial statements.
In addition, given that the considerable subsequent cash balance as of November 30, 2020 amounted to $1,562,150, and the net working
capital as of November 30, 2020 was positive. The Company’s principal uses of cash for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019 were
mainly for operating activities, primarily including employee benefit, rental expenses and service fee. Therefore, based on the Company’s
forecast for the next 12 months after the issuance date of this report, the Company believes there will be sufficient cash to support basic
operation expenses and to settle the current liability in the next 12 months. Therefore, the Company assesses that current working capital will
be sufficient to meet its obligations for the next 12 months from the issuance date of this report.
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HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued
(d) Use of estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the Company’s management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions includes allowance for prepaid
expenses, other current and non-current assets, the useful lives of property and equipment, intangible assets and valuation allowance for
deferred tax assets.
(e) Fair value measurement
The Company applies Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures which defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands financial statement disclosure requirements for fair value measurements.
ASC Topic 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) on
the measurement date in an orderly transaction between market participants in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or
liability.
ASC Topic 820 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques, which is based on whether the inputs into the valuation technique are observable
or unobservable. The hierarchy is as follows:
Level 1 inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
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HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued
(e) Fair value measurement- continued
Level 2 inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in active markets or in inactive
markets, and inputs that are observable for the assets or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial
instruments.
Level 3 inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value.
The carrying amounts of inventories, amount due from related parties, prepaid expense and other assets, advances from customers, amount
due to related parties and accrued expenses and other current liabilities approximate their fair values because of their short-term nature.
(f) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in bank and bank deposits placed with financial institutions, which has unrestricted as to withdrawal
and use.
(g) Prepaid expenses, other current assets and other non-current assets
Prepaid expenses, other current assets and other non-current assets consist of advances to suppliers, legal deposit, tax receivable, long-term
receivables from suppliers and others. Advances to suppliers and long-term receivables from suppliers refer to advances for purchase of
automobiles. The Company reviews a supplier’s credit history and background information before advancing a payment. The Company
maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based on a variety of factors, including but not limited to the aging of prepayments,
concentrations, credit-worthiness, historical and current economic trends and changes in delivery patterns. If the financial condition of its
suppliers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to deliver goods or provide services, the Company would provide
allowance for such amount in the period when it is considered impaired. There were no allowances recognized for the prepaid expenses, other
current assets and other non-current assets for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019.
(h) Inventories
Inventories primarily consist of the automobiles purchased by the Company. Cost of inventory is determined using first-in first-out method.
Where there is evidence that the utility of inventories, in their disposal in the ordinary course of business, will be less than cost, whether due
to physical deterioration, obsolescence, changes in price levels, or other causes, the inventories are written down to net realizable value. There
were no write-downs recognized for the inventories for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019. As of December 31, 2018 and 2019,
inventories consisted of automobiles amounting to $43,883 and nil, respectively.
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HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued
(i) Property and equipment, net and intangible assets, net
Property and equipment as well as intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Cost represents the purchase price of the asset and other costs incurred to bring the asset into its
intended use. The cost of repairs and maintenance is expensed as incurred; major replacements and improvements are capitalized. When
assets are retired or disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from the accounts, and any resulting
gains or losses are included in income/loss in the year of disposition. Estimated useful lives are as follows:
Estimated Useful Life
3 Years
5 Years
10 Years

Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Software
(j) Value added tax

Haitaoche’s China subsidiaries and VIEs are subject to value-added tax (“VAT”) for sales of automobiles. Revenue from sales of automobiles
is generally subject to VAT at applicable tax rates, and subsequently paid to PRC tax authorities after netting input VAT on purchases. The
excess of output VAT over input VAT is reflected in accrued expenses and other payables. The Company reports revenue net of PRC’s VAT
for all the periods presented in the consolidated statements of operations.
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HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued
(k) Revenue recognition
The Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, starting January 1, 2018
using the modified retrospective method for contracts that were not completed as of January 1, 2018. The adoption of this ASC 606 did not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements, considering there were no unfinished contracts from prior years
at the date of initial adoption.
The core principle of the new revenue standard is that a company should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. The following five steps are applied to achieve that core principle:
Step 1: Identify the contract with the customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
Step 5: Recognize revenue when the company satisfies a performance obligation
The Company primarily sells automobiles to car dealers and individual customers through signing a written sales contract. The Company
presents the revenue generated from its sales of automobiles on a gross basis as the Company is a principal. The revenue is recognized at a
point in time when the Company satisfies the performance obligation by transferring promised product to a customer upon acceptance by
customers.
The following table identifies the disaggregation of the revenue for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively:

Sales of automobiles to car dealers
Sales of automobiles to individual customers
Net revenues

$
$

For the years ended
December 31,
2018
2019
144,839,497
$
38,233,976
9,760,962
7,614,408
154,600,459
$
45,848,384

Advances from customers
Advances from customers for sales of automobiles are deferred when corresponding performance obligation is not satisfied and recognized as
revenue upon the Company transfers the control of products to the customers. The balance of advances from customers as of December 31,
2018 and 2019 are $456,838 and $85,354, respectively.
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HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued
(l) Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue consists primarily of cost of automobiles purchased from domestic and overseas regions.
(m) Government grants
The Company primarily receives tax refund and development supporting bonus from tax bureau and local government without any condition
or restriction. The government grants are recorded in other income on the consolidated statements of operations in the period in which the
amounts of such subsidies are received without future performance requirement. The recognized government grants as other income are
$6,300 and $60,798 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively.
(n) Income taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset/liability method prescribed by ASC 740 Income Taxes. Under this method, deferred
tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities using
enacted tax rates that will be in effect in the period in which the differences are expected to reverse. The Company records a valuation
allowance to offset deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not that some portion, or all, of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized as income or loss in the period that
includes the enactment date.
The provisions of ASC 740-10-25, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” prescribe a more-likely-than-not threshold for
consolidated financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken (or expected to be taken) in a tax return. This
interpretation also provides guidance on the recognition of income tax assets and liabilities, classification of current and deferred tax assets
and liabilities, accounting for interest and penalties associated with tax positions, and related disclosures. The Company’s operating
subsidiaries in PRC are subject to examination by the relevant tax authorities. According to the PRC Tax Administration and Collection Law,
the statute of limitations is three years if the underpayment of taxes is due to computational errors made by the taxpayer or the withholding
agent. The statute of limitations is extended to five years under special circumstances, where the underpayment of taxes is more than RMB
100,000 ($14,138). In the case of transfer pricing issues, the statute of limitation is ten years. There is no statute of limitation in the case of tax
evasion. Penalties and interest incurred related to underpayment of income tax are classified as income tax expense in the period incurred.
As of December 31, 2018 and 2019, the Company did not have any significant unrecognized uncertain tax positions and the Company does
not believe that its unrecognized tax benefits will change over the next twelve months. In addition, the Company did not have any interest or
penalties associated with uncertain tax position.
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HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued
(o) Foreign currency translation
The reporting currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar (“USD” or “$”). The functional currency of subsidiaries, VIEs located in China is
the Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”), the functional currency of subsidiaries located in Hong Kong is the Hong Kong dollars (“HK dollar” or
“HK$”). For the entities whose functional currency is the RMB and HK$, result of operations and cash flows are translated at average
exchange rates during the period, assets and liabilities are translated at the unified exchange rate at the end of the period, and equity is
translated at historical exchange rates. As a result, amounts relating to assets and liabilities reported on the statements of cash flows may not
necessarily agree with the changes in the corresponding balances on the balance sheets. Translation adjustments are reported as foreign
currency translation adjustment and are shown as a separate component of other comprehensive (loss) income in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive (loss) income.
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction
dates. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing at
the balance sheet date. Both exchanges rates were published by the Federal Reserve Board. Any transaction gains and losses that arise from
exchange rate fluctuations on transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency are shown as foreign currency
exchange (gains) loss in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) as incurred.
The consolidated balance sheets amounts, with the exception of equity, on December 31, 2018 and 2019 were translated at RMB6.8755 to
$1.00 and at RMB6.9618 to $1.00, respectively. Equity accounts were stated at their historical rates. The average translation rates applied to
consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019 were RMB6.6090 to $1.00 and
RMB6.9081 to $1.00, respectively.
(p) Net income (loss) per share
Basic income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding for the period. Diluted income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to
ordinary shareholders as adjusted for the effect of dilutive ordinary equivalent shares, if any, by the weighted average number of ordinary and
dilutive ordinary equivalent shares outstanding during the period. Potentially dilutive shares are excluded from the computation if their effect
is anti-dilutive.
(q) Comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of the Company’s net income and other comprehensive loss. The components of other
comprehensive income (loss) consist solely of foreign currency translation adjustments.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued
(r) Commitments and contingencies
Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, and penalties and other sources are recorded when it is
probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. If a potential material loss contingency is not probable
but is reasonably possible, or is probable but cannot be estimated, then the nature of the contingent liability, together with an estimate of the
range of possible loss if determinable and material, is disclosed. Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as
incurred.
(s) Concentrations of credit risk
As of December 31, 2018 and 2019, cash, and cash equivalents balances in the PRC are $18,280 and $3,545, respectively, which were
primarily deposited in financial institutions located in Mainland China, and each bank account is insured by the government authority with the
maximum limit of RMB 500,000 (equivalent to $70,692). To limit exposure to credit risk relating to deposits, the Company primarily place
cash and cash equivalent deposits with large financial institutions in China which management believes are of high credit quality and
management also continually monitors the financial institutions’ credit worthiness.
The following table sets forth information as to each customer that accounted for 10% or more of total revenue for the years ended December
31, 2018 and 2019. The balance of accounts receivable was nil as of December 31, 2018 and 2019.

Customer
A
B
C
D
E
F
Total
*

$

$

Year ended
December 31, 2018,
% of
Amount
Total
30,441,797
17,766,279
17,029,974
15,957,950
81,196,000

represented the percentage below 10%
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20%
11%
11%
10%
*
*
52%

$

$

Year ended
December 31, 2019,
% of
Amount
Total
11,171,714
8,570,447
19,742,161

*
*
*
*
24%
19%
43%

HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued
(s) Concentrations of credit risk- continued
The following table sets forth information as to each supplier that accounted for 10% or more of total purchase for the years ended December
31, 2018 and 2019. The balance of accounts payable was nil as of December 31, 2018 and 2019.

Supplier
A
B
C
D
Total
*

$

$

Year ended
December 31, 2018,
% of
Amount
Total
41,736,523
35,069,802
30,054,748
106,861,073

represented the percentage below 10%
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27%
23%
20%
*
70%

$

$

Year ended
December 31, 2019,
% of
Amount
Total
6,807,495
21,955,960
28,763,455

*
*
15%
48%
63%

HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued
(t) Recent accounting standards
In February 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The guidance supersedes existing guidance on accounting for leases
with the main difference being that operating leases are to be recorded in the statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, initially measured at the present value of the lease payments. For operating leases with a term of 12 months or less, a lessee is
permitted to make an accounting policy election not to recognize lease assets and liabilities. For public companies, the standard is effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early application of the guidance is
permitted. In July 2018, ASU 2016-02 was updated with ASU 2018-11, Targeted Improvements to ASC Topic 842, which provides entities
with relief from the costs of implementing certain aspects of the new leasing standard. Specifically, under the amendments in ASU 2018-11,
(1) entities may elect not to recast the comparative periods presented when transitioning to ASC 842 and (2) lessors may elect not to separate
lease and non-lease components when certain conditions are met. In November 2019, ASU 2019-10, Codification Improvements to ASC 842
modified the effective dates of all other entities. For all other entities, the amendments in ASU 2019-10 are effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. Early application of the guidance is
permitted. The Company is an “emerging growth company” (“EGC”) as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the
“JOBS Act”). Under the JOBS Act, EGC can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the
JOBS Act until such time as those standards apply to private companies. The Company will adopt ASU 2016-02 from January 1, 2021 and
will use the additional modified retrospective transition method provided by ASU No. 2018-11 for the adoption. The Company does not
expect that this standard will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In June 2016, the FASB issued new accounting guidance ASU 2016-13 for recognition of credit losses on financial instruments, which is
effective January 1, 2020, with early adoption permitted on January 1, 2019. The guidance introduces a new credit reserving model known as
the Current Expected Credit Loss (CECL) model, which is based on expected losses, and differs significantly from the incurred loss approach
used today. The CECL model requires measurement of expected credit losses not only based on historical experience and current conditions,
but also by including reasonable and supportable forecasts incorporating forward-looking information and will likely result in earlier
recognition of credit reserves. The Company will adopt ASU 2016-13 from January 1, 2021, and does not expect that this standard will have a
material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
Other accounting standards that have been issued by FASB that do not require adoption until a future date are not expected to have a material
impact on the consolidated financial statements upon adoption. The Company does not discuss recent standards that are not anticipated to
have an impact on or are unrelated to its consolidated financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or disclosures.
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3.

PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
As of December 31, 2018 and 2019, prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following:

Advance to suppliers (1)
Tax receivable
Others
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

$

As of December 31,
2018
2019
1,192,510
$
1,572
26,381
2,982
1,218,891
$
4,554

(1) The balance mainly represented the advances to suppliers for automobiles purchase as of December 31, 2018, and was fully settled in 2019.
4.

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
As of December 31, 2018 and 2019, other non-current assets consisted of the following:

Long-term receivables from suppliers(1)
Legal deposit
Other non-current assets

$
$

As of December 31,
2018
2019
4,160,540
$
4,077,373
97,065
4,160,540
$
4,174,438

(1) Other non-current assets mainly represented the receivable from a foreign supplier, Brueggmann Group (“BG”) in Germany for payment of
automobiles purchase early in 2016. BG has never delivered the automobiles. The prepayment amounts were $3,963,439 and $3,884,212, as of
December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively.
In August 2018, the Company filed a lawsuit under the district court of Hamburg (Landgericht Hamburg) against the BG, asserted its refund claims
against BG in the amount of EUR3,459,706 plus interest. The first oral hearing took place in February 2020 before the Court. Further hearings
followed in June and October 2020. In all these hearings, the Court focused on the question whether it has jurisdiction over the case. With its
interlocutory judgement, which was issued by the Court on November 16, 2020, the court confirmed its jurisdiction. BG are entitled to appeal this
decision and ask the Higher Regional Court in Hamburg for review. So far, BG has not appealed against this judgement.
As of the date of issuance of these consolidated financial statements, although lawsuit is still ongoing, the Company’s management, with the assistance
of its external legal counsel, believes it has solid factual and legal arguments for the claim and expects the recovery of the amounts to be probable in
2021 or later. Therefore, the balances were presented as non-current assets, and no allowances were recognized as of December 31, 2018 and 2019.
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5.

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
As of December 31, 2018 and 2019, accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following:

Payroll payable
Other taxes payable (1)
Others
Accrued expenses and other payables

$

$

As of December 31,
2018
2019
1,629
$
1,424
25,758
14
168
3,641
27,555
$
5,079

(1) The balance of other taxes payable as of December 31, 2018 and 2019 mainly represented the stamp tax payable.
6.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
The following is a list of related parties which the Company has transactions with during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019:

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
(i)
(j)

Name
Beijing Haitaoche Consulting Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Haitaoche”)
Mr. Huang Erquan
Mr. Wu Xinyu
Ningbo Lulufa Automobile Sales Co., Ltd. (“Ningbo Lulufa”)
Ningbo Haitaoche Technology Co., Ltd. (“Ningbo Haitaoche”)
Ningbo Meishan Haitaoche International Trading Co., Ltd. (“Meishan
Haitaoche”)
Beijing Lulufa Network Co., Ltd.
(“Beijing Lulufa”)
Qingdao Qingbaoshiji International Trading Co., Ltd. (“Qingbaoshiji”)
Ningbo Meishan Baoshuigangqu Lelebai Investment Co., Ltd. (“Lelebai”)
Qingdao Zimao Haitaoche Automobile Sales & Service Co., Ltd.
(“Qingdao Haitaoche”)
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Relationship
An entity ultimately controlled by Mr. Lin Mingjun (“Mr. Lin”),
controlling shareholder and chief executive officer of the Company
Supervisor of Ningbo Jiusheng
General manager of Ningbo Jiusheng
An entity ultimately controlled by Mr. Lin
An entity ultimately controlled by Mr. Lin
An entity ultimately controlled by Mr. Lin
An entity ultimately controlled by Mr. Lin
An entity controlled by Mr. Wang Sheng, the general manager of
Qingdao Shengmei
An entity ultimately controlled by Mr. Lin
An entity ultimately controlled by Mr. Lin

HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
6.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES - continued
Amounts due from related parties
As of December 31, 2018 and 2019, amounts due from related parties, consisted of the following:

Beijing Haitaoche (1)
Meishan Haitaoche (2)
Amounts due from related parties

As of December 31,
2018
2019
$
195,998

$

254,360
254,360

$

195,998

$

(1) The balance mainly consisted of business prepayment made to the related party.
(2) The balance mainly consisted of the prepayments for purchasing automobiles of totally $254,360 as of December 31, 2018, and has been paid back
subsequently since the automobiles were not delivered to the Company as of December 31, 2019.
Amounts due to related parties
As of December 31, 2018 and 2019, amounts due to related parties consisted of the following:

Mr. Huang Erquan(1)
Mr. Wu Xinyu(1)
Ningbo Haitaoche (2)
Meishan Haitaoche(3)
Amounts due to related parties

$

$

As of December 31,
2018
2019
4,039,939 $
206,821
400,437
278,836
436,332
5,083,529

$

278,836

(1) The balance represented the interest free borrowings provided by Mr. Huang Erquan and Mr. Wu Xinyu to the Company, and the Company has fully
paid back the borrowings with cash as of December 31, 2019.
(2) The balance mainly represented the advance fund from the related party for daily operational purpose.
(3) The balance mainly represented the automobiles deposit received from Meishan Haitaoche as of December 31, 2018, which was fully settled in 2019.
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6.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES – continued
Related party transactions
During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019, the Company had the following material related party transactions:
For the years ended
December 31,
2018
2019

Advance fund from a related party:
Beijing Haitaoche
Ningbo Haitaoche
Meishan Haitaoche
Beijing Lulufa

$

Automobiles purchased from a related party:
Ningbo Haitaoche
Beijing Lulufa
Qingdao Qingbaoshiji
Qingdao Haitaoche
Meishan Haitaoche
Beijing Haitaoche
Ningbo Lulufa
Automobiles deposit received from a related party:
Meishan Haitaoche
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29,468,170
74,454
-

$

2,969,726
30,999,997
55,008

2,088,113
2,014,844
390,726
35,070,030
-

3,625,965
587,294
1,429,723

453,924

253,158

HAITAOCHE LIMITED
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6.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES – continued
For the years ended
December 31,
2018
2019

Automobiles sold to a related party:
Beijing Haitaoche
Ningbo Haitaoche
Meishan Haitaoche
Beijing Lulufa

2,055,191
532,969
2,433,202

11,171,714
-

29,336,360
74,454
-

3,167,247
31,117,540
55,008

90,028

-

-

434,270

Consulting fee paid to a related party:
Beijing Haitaoche

263,361

117,717

Proceeds from interest free borrowings:
Mr. Huang Erquan
Mr. Wu Xinyu

107,126
215,160

405,319

Repayments of interest-free borrowings:
Mr. Huang Erquan
Mr. Wu Xinyu

-

4,020,852
611,163

Repayment for operating advance to a related party:
Beijing Haitaoche
Ningbo Haitaoche
Meishan Haitaoche
Beijing Lulufa
Vehicle deposit recognized into cost:
Qingdao Qingbaoshiji
Vehicle deposit recognized into revenue:
Meishan Haitaoche
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7.

INCOME TAXES
Cayman Islands
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is not subject to income or
capital gains taxes. In addition, dividend payments are not subject to withholdings tax in the Cayman Islands.
Hong Kong
On March 21, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on March 28, 2018 and was announced on the following day. Under the twotiered profits tax rates regime, the first 2 million Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD”) of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HKD 2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The Company’s Hong Kong subsidiaries did not have assessable profits that were derived in
Hong Kong for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019. Therefore, no Hong Kong profit tax has been provided for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2019.
PRC
The Company’s PRC subsidiary, VIEs are subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (“EIT Law”) and are taxed at the statutory income tax
rate of 25%, unless otherwise specified.
The components of the income tax expense are as follows:

Current income tax expense
Deferred income tax expense
Total income tax expense

For the years ended
December 31,
2018
2019
(51,198) $
(161)
(51,359) $

$
$

-

The reconciliations of the statutory income tax rate and the Company’s effective income tax rate are as follows:

Net (income) loss before provision for income taxes
PRC statutory tax rate
Income tax (expense) benefit at statutory tax rate

$

Expenses not deductible for tax purpose
Effect on valuation allowance
Income tax expense
Effective tax rates

$
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For the years ended
December 31,
2018
2019
(8,328) $
109,650
25%
25%
(2,082)
27,413
(4,965)
(44,312)
(51,359) $
617%

(27,413)
0%

HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
7.

INCOME TAXES – continued
The tax effect of temporary difference under ASC Topic 740 “Accounting for Income Taxes” that gives rise to deferred tax asset as of December
31, 2018 and 2019 is as follows:
As of December 31,
2018
2019

Deferred tax assets:
Tax loss carry forwards
Valuation allowance
Deferred tax assets, net

$

380,888
(380,888)
-

$

401,895
(401,895)
-

The movements of the valuation allowance are as follows:
As of December 31,
2018
2019
357,539
380,888
44,312
27,413
(47)
(1,473)
(20,916)
(4,933)
380,888
401,895

Balance at the beginning of the year
Current year addition
Reduction due to statute expiration
Exchange rate effect
Balance at the end of the year

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had tax losses carryforwards of $1,657,758. Tax losses of $314,561, $739,180, $317,118, $177,250, and
$109,650 will expire, if unused, by 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023, and 2024, respectively. The Company determined that the negative evidence
outweighed the positive evidence, and therefore the Company evaluated there might be not enough taxable income to settle the tax loss carry
forwards which will expire from 2020 to 2024. Therefore, the Company has fully allowanced the deferred tax assets for the tax loss carry forwards
which will expire from 2020 through 2024.
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8.

EQUITY
(a) Ordinary shares
The Company was established under the laws of the Cayman Islands on January 13, 2015. The authorized number of ordinary shares was
47,473,684 with par value of $0.001 per share. Ordinary shares of the Company amounted to 8,000,000 as of December 31, 2018 and 2019.
The shareholders’ equity structures as of December 31, 2018 and 2019 were presented after giving retroactive effect to the reorganization of the
Company that was completed on July 11, 2019. Immediately before and after reorganization, the Company together with its wholly-owned
subsidiary and its VIEs were effectively controlled by the same shareholders.
(b) Preferred shares
On August 3, 2015, the Company issued 2,000,000 Series A preferred shares at the price of US$0.001 per share for a total cash consideration of
US$2,000. On November 2, 2015, the Company issued 526,316 Series A-1 preferred shares at the price of $0.001 per share for a total cash
consideration of US$526. All preferred shares of Haitaoche were exchanged to ordinary shares upon the completion of share purchase agreement
signed with Kaixin Auto Holdings (“Kaixin”) on December 31, 2020.
(c) Statutory reserve and restricted net assets
Ningbo Taohaoche, Ningbo Jiusheng, and Qingdao Shengmei operate in the PRC, therefore, they are required to reserve 10% of their net profit
after income tax, as determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and regulations. Appropriation to the statutory reserve by the
Company is based on profit arrived at under PRC accounting standards for business enterprises for each year. The profit arrived at must be set off
against any accumulated losses sustained by the Company in prior years, before allocation is made to the statutory reserve. Appropriation to the
statutory reserve must be made before distribution of dividends to shareholders. The appropriation is required until the statutory reserve reaches
50% of the registered capital. This statutory reserve is not distributable in the form of cash dividends.
Relevant PRC statutory laws and regulations permit the payment of dividends by the Company’s PRC subsidiary and VIEs only out of their
retained earnings, if any, as determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations. Furthermore, registered share capital and
capital reserve accounts are also restricted from distribution. As a result of these PRC laws and regulations, the Company’s PRC subsidiary and
VIEs is restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of their net assets to the Company either in the form of dividends, loans or advances. The
Company’s restricted net assets, comprising of the registered paid-in-capital, additional paid-in-capital and statutory reserve of Company’s PRC
subsidiary and VIEs, were $1,591,355 and $5,500,440 as of December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively.
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9.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating leases
The Company leases its offices under non-cancelable operating lease agreements. Rent and related utilities expense under all operating leases,
included in operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income, amounted to $2,723 and $27,496
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively.
The future minimum rental payments required under operating leases as of December 31, 2019 amounted to $2,046.

10.

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE PARENT COMPANY
The Company performed a test on the restricted net assets of consolidated subsidiary in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission
Regulation S-X Rule 4-08 (e) (3), “General Notes to Financial Statements” and concluded that it was applicable for the Company to disclose the
financial statements for the parent company.
The condensed financial information of the parent company, Haitaoche Limited, has been prepared using the same accounting policies as set out in
the Company’s consolidated financial statements except that the parent company has used equity method to account for its investment in its
subsidiaries.
Haitaoche’s share of income and losses from its subsidiaries, and VIEs is reported as losses from subsidiaries, and VIEs in the accompanying
condensed financial information of parent company.
Haitaoche is incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, Haitaoche is not subject to income or capital
gains taxes. In addition, dividend payments are not subject to withholdings tax in the Cayman Islands.
Haitaoche did not have significant capital and other commitments, long-term obligations, or guarantees as of December 31, 2018 and 2019.
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10.

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE PARENT COMPANY- continued
PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31,
2018
2019

ASSETS
Investment in subsidiaries and consolidated VIEs
Total assets

$

103,253
103,253

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Preferred shares (par value of $0.001per share; 2,526,316 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively)
Ordinary shares (par value of $0.001 per share; 47,473,684 shares authorized and 8,000,000 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively)
Additional paid-in capital
Statutory reserve
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

$

$

4,015,116
4,015,116

-

-

2,526

2,526

8,000
1,583,790
7,565
(1,447,468)
(51,160)
103,253
103,253 $

8,000
5,492,875
7,565
(1,557,118)
61,268
4,015,116
4,015,116

PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME
For the years ended
December 31,
2018
2019
Operating loss:
Share of losses of subsidiaries

$

Loss before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net loss
Other comprehensive (loss) income
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of nil income taxes
Total comprehensive (loss) income

$
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(43,031) $

(109,650)

(43,031)
(43,031)

(109,650)
(109,650)

(6,539)
(49,570) $

112,428
2,778

HAITAOCHE LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)
10.

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE PARENT COMPANY- continued
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at beginning of year
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at end of year
11.

$

$

For the years ended
December 31,
2018
2019
$
$

-

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
China has recently experienced the outbreak of COVID-19, a disease caused by a novel and highly contagious form of coronavirus. The severity
of the outbreak in certain provinces resulted in travel restrictions, delay in resumption of service and mass production and the related quarantine
measures imposed by the government across China and materially affected general commercial activities in China.
Substantially all of the Company’s revenue and workforce are concentrated in China. Consequently, the COVID-19 outbreak materially adversely
affected the Company’s business operations and financial condition, operating results and cash flow for 2020, including but not limited to material
negative impact to the Company’s total revenues. Because of the significant uncertainties surrounding the COVID-19 outbreak, the Company
evaluates that the COVID-19 outbreak has a significant adverse impact on the results of operations in 2020.
On December 7, 2020, Ningbo Jiusheng signed framework agreement with one of its suppliers, China Automobiles Import & Export Co., Ltd.,
which promised a sales amount to the Company of $304 million for the year ending December 31, 2021. On November 30 and December 8, 2020,
Ningbo Jiusheng signed framework agreements with two of its customers, Zhaotong Guoyuan Automobiles Sales Co., Ltd. and Ningbo
Xinshunchang International Trading Co., Ltd., respectively, which promised purchase amounts from the Company of totally $152 million for the
year ending December 31, 2021.
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11.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS -continued
On November 30, 2020, after Haitaoche issued 494,418 preferred shares to FIT RUN Limited, preferred shares of Haitaoche increased to
3,020,734. Furthermore, Haitaoche’s shareholders transferred the ordinary shares and preferred shares among themselves, afterwards Mr. Lin
and persons acting in concert together held 6,815,488 ordinary shares in Haitaoche, representing 62% of total share number, compared to 76% as
of December 31, 2019. Subsequently, all preferred shares of Haitaoche were exchanged to ordinary shares upon the completion of share
purchase agreement signed with Kaixin Auto Holdings on December 31, 2020.
On December 31, 2020, Kaixin Auto Holdings announced that it entered into share purchase agreement (the “SPA”) with the shareholders of
Haitaoche. Pursuant to the SPA, Kaixin will acquire 100% of the share capital of Haitaoche from the shareholders (the “Acquisition”). As
consideration for the Acquisition, Kaixin will issue 74,035,502 ordinary shares of Kaixin to the shareholders of Haitaoche. Upon the completion
of the Acquisition, the Haitaoche shareholders will collectively hold 51% of Kaixin’s issued and outstanding shares.
The Company has performed an evaluation of subsequent events through the date of the consolidated financial statements were issued, and
determined that no events that would have required adjustment or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements other than those discussed
in above.
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December 31,
2019
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Amount due from related parties
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets

$

$

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Advances from customers
Income tax payable
Amount due to related parties
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Preferred shares (par value of $0.001per share; 2,526,316 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively)
Ordinary shares (par value of $0.001 per share; 47,473,684 shares authorized and 8,000,000 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2020, respectively)
Additional paid-in capital
Statutory reserve
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

$

$

3,269
4,373,327
4,376,596
1,477
6,587
4,176,650
4,184,714
8,561,310

85,354
3,479
278,836
5,079
372,748

16,474
20,269
4,246,224
1,821
4,284,788

2,526

2,526

8,000
5,492,875
7,565
(1,557,118)
61,268
4,015,116
$
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3,545
195,998
4,554
204,097
2,095
7,234
4,174,438
4,183,767
4,387,864

June 30,
2020
(unaudited)

4,387,864

8,000
5,770,563
7,565
(1,511,554)
(578)
4,276,522
$

8,561,310

HAITAOCHE LIMITED
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(Amounts in U.S. dollars except for number of shares)

Net revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit

$

Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses

For the six months ended
June 30,
2019
2020
(unaudited)
(unaudited)
42,440,236
$
666,725
(42,265,509)
(666,341)
174,727
384
(118,986)
(71,069)

(287)
(11,621)

Operating Loss

(15,328)

(11,524)

Interest expense
Foreign currency exchange (loss) gains
Other income, net

(1,671)
(36,578)
-

(425)
63,544
9,464

(Loss) income before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net (loss) income

(53,577)
(7,376)
(60,953)

61,059
(15,495)
45,564

Other Comprehensive loss
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of nil income taxes
Total comprehensive loss

881
(60,072)

(61,846)
(16,282)

Net (loss) income per ordinary share:
Basic and diluted
Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding
Basic and diluted

$

(0.0076)
8,000,000
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$

0.0057
8,000,000

Exhibit 99.4
Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Financial Information
Kaixin Auto Holdings (“Kaixin” or the “Company”) (NASDAQ: KXIN) announced that it entered into share purchase agreement (the “SPA”) with
Haitaoche Limited (“Haitaoche”) on December 31, 2020 and that it has made certain changes to its senior management team. Pursuant to the SPA, Kaixin
will acquire 100% of the share capital of Haitaoche from the shareholders (the “Acquisition”). As consideration for the Acquisition, Kaixin will issue a
number of ordinary shares of Kaixin to the shareholders of Haitaoche, upon the completion of the Acquisition, the Haitaoche shareholders will collectively
hold 51% of Kaixin’s share capital upon the closing of the Acquisition.
The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements present the combination of the financial information of Kaixin and
Haitaoche adjusted to give effect to the Acquisition as of the date of this announcement and as contemplated by the SPA. The following unaudited pro
forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared in accordance with Article 11 of Regulation S-X.
The unaudited pro forma combined balance sheet as of June 30, 2020 gives pro forma effect to the Business Combination as if it had been
consummated as of that date. The unaudited pro forma combined statements of operations as of December 31, 2019 give pro forma effect to the Business
Combination as if it had consummated as of January 1, 2019, and the unaudited pro forma combined statements of operations as of June 30, 2020 give pro
forma effect to the Business Combination as if it had consummated as of January 1, 2020.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements have been developed from and should be read in conjunction with:
• the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements;
• the (i) historical audited financial statements of Kaixin as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the related notes; (ii) historical condensed
unaudited financial statements of Kaixin as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and the related notes.
• the (i) historical audited consolidated financial statements of Haitaoche as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the related notes;
(ii) historical condensed unaudited consolidated financial statements of Haitaoche as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and the related notes.
• other information relating to Kaixin and Haitaoche contained in this statement, including the SPA and the description of certain terms thereof set
forth in this statement.
The Company’s proposed transaction with Haitaoche constitutes a business combination that results in a “Change of Control” in accordance with U.S.
GAAP. Under this method of accounting, Kaixin will be treated as the accounting acquiree for financial reporting purposes. This determination was
primarily based on the holders of Haitaoche expecting to have a majority of the voting power of the post-combination company, Haitaoche senior
management comprising majority of the senior management of the post-combination company. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the Business
Combination will be treated as the equivalent of Haitaoche issuing stock for the net assets of Kaixin, accompanied by an acquisition. The assets and
liabilities of Haitaoche are recognized and measured at their precombination carrying amounts. The identifiable assets and liabilities of Kaixin are
recognized and measured at their fair value and goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of identifiable net assets
from purchased of Kaixin’s business and is not deductible for tax purposes.
The unaudited pro forma combined financial information is for illustrative purposes only. The financial results may have been different had the
companies always been combined. You should not rely on the unaudited pro forma combined financial information as being indicative of the historical
financial position and results that would have been achieved had the companies always been combined or the future financial position and results that the
post-combination company will experience. The unaudited pro forma adjustments represent Kaixin’s management’s estimates based on information
available as of the date of these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements and are subject to change as additional information becomes
available and analyses are performed.

Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2020
(in thousands)

Kaixin
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Amounts due from related parties
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Inventory
Total Current Assets
Property and equipment, net
Right-of-use assets, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Other non-current assets
Total Assets
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Short-term borrowings
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Amounts due to related parties, current
Advance from customer
Income taxes payable
Lease liabilities, current
Total Current Liabilities
Lease liabilities, non-current
Total Liabilities

$

$

$

1,040
247
30,565
17,536
49,388
110
1,700
51,198

Initial
Pro Forma
Combined

Haitaoche

$

3
4,373
4,376
1
7
4,177
8,561

$

15,213
1,072
17,525
2,614
4,946
5,251
2,216
48,837
322
49,159

2
4,246
16
20
4,284
4,284

$

6
191,894
4,004
(197,967)

8
3
5,771
8
(1,512)

$

$

1,043
247
4,373
30,565
17,536
53,764
111
1,700
7
4,177
59,759

Pro Forma
Adjustments

$

$

3,237(1)
3,237

Pro Forma
Balance Sheet

$

1,043
247
4,373
30,565
17,536
53,764
111
1,700
7
3,237
4,177
62,996

15,213
1,072
17,527
6,860
4,962
5,271
2,216
53,121
322
53,443

204(2)
204
204

$

15,213
1,072
17,731
6,860
4,962
5,271
2,216
53,325
322
53,647

14
3
197,665
4,012
(199,479)

1(1)
(3)(1)
(193,608)(1)
(4,004)(1)
197,967(1)
(204)(2)
2,884(1)
3,033
3,237
$

15
4,057
8

Commitments and Contingencies
Shareholders’ Equity
Ordinary shares
Preferred shares
Additional paid-in capital
Statutory reserves
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total Shareholders’ Equity
Non-controlling interest
Total Liabilities and Equity

$

(2,884)
(4,947)
6,986
51,198

$

(1)
4,277
8,561 $

(2,885)
(670)
6,986
59,759 $

(1,716)
(1)
2,363
6,986
62,996

Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Statement of Operations
For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2020
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Net revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit

$

Sales and marketing expenses
Research and development expenses
General and administrative expenses
Operating loss
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income, net
(Loss) income before income taxes
Income tax expenses
Net (loss) income
Less: net loss attributable to non-controlling
interests
Net (loss) income attributable to Company
$
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and
diluted
Basic and diluted net loss per share
$

Kaixin
33,295
(32,375)
920

Initial
Pro Forma
Pro Forma
Haitaoche
Combined
Adjustments
$
667 $
33,962 $
(666)
(33,041)
1
921
-

Pro Forma
Income
Statement
$
33,962
(33,041)
921

(1,852)
(503)
(3,837)
(5,272)

(12)
(11)

(1,852)
(503)
(3,849)
(5,283)

-

(1,852)
(503)
(3,849)
(5,283)

5
(607)
84
(5,790)
(5,790)

$

(1)
73
61
(15)
46 $

5
(608)
157
(5,729)
(15)
(5,744) $

-

$

5
(608)
157
(5,729)
(15)
(5,744)

(12)
(5,778)

$

(12)
(5,732) $

-

$

(12)
(5,732)

$

145,167,651
(0.04)

59,649,464
(0.10)

46

$

85,518,187

Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Statement of Operations
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Net revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross (loss) profit

$

Sales and marketing expenses
Research and development expenses
General and administrative expenses
Impairment of goodwill
Operating loss
Other income (expense):
Fair value change of contingent consideration
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income, net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax benefit
Net loss
Less: net loss attributable to non-controlling interests
Net loss attributable to stockholders of the Company $
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and
diluted
Basic and diluted net loss per share
$

Kaixin
334,697
(340,174)
(5,477)

Initial
Pro Forma
Pro Forma
Haitaoche
Combined
Adjustments
$
45,848 $
380,545 $
(45,662)
(385,836)
186
(5,291)
-

(14,364)
(3,357)
(36,145)
(74,091)
(133,434)

65,594
69
(4,057)
840
(70,988)
1,920
(69,068)
(22,952)
(46,116)
33,146,593
(1.39)

(195)
(127)
(136)

$

(3)
29
(110)
(110)
(110) $

(14,559)
(3,357)
(36,272)
(74,091)
(133,570)

65,594
69
(4,060)
869
(71,098)
1,920
(69,178)
(22,952)
(46,226) $

Pro Forma
Income
Statement
$
380,545
(385,836)
(5,291)

-

(14,559)
(3,357)
(36,272)
(74,091)
(133,570)

-

$

65,594
69
(4,060)
869
(71,098)
1,920
(69,178)
(22,952)
(46,226)

$

145,167,651
(0.32)

112,021,058

1.

Basis of Pro Forma Presentation

The historical financial information has been adjusted to give pro forma effect to events that are related and/or directly attributable to the Business
Combination, are factually supportable, and as it relates to the unaudited pro forma combined statement of operations, are expected to have a continuing
impact on the results of the post-combination company. The adjustments presented on the unaudited pro forma combined financial statements have been
identified and presented to provide relevant information necessary for an accurate understanding of the post-combination company upon consummation of
the business combination.
As of acquisition date, Haitaoche has not obtained the information necessary to enable it to complete the accounting for a business combination, the
consideration transferred, the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and noncontrolling interest for which the initial accounting is incomplete, thus have
been determined only provisionally. As Kaixin issued 74,035,502 shares to acquire 100% of the share capital of Haitaoche, the consideration transferred is
the fair value of Haitaoche. The carrying value of Haitaoche is considered as its fair value, and is allocated to tangible assets and intangible assets acquired
and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values with the excess recorded as goodwill. The assets and liabilities of Haitaoche are measured and
recognized in the consolidated financial statements at their precombination carrying amounts. The carrying value of Kaixin is assumed as its fair value due
to the management estimated that Kainxin’s identifiable assets and liabilities have carrying values that approximate fair value. The noncontrolling interest
is assumed that no discount for lack of control in the business combination. These are the management’s estimates as of now, and are subject to change
when the Company completes its purchase price allocation valuation.
A summary of the consideration transferred at fair value as of acquisition date is estimated as below:
Consideration transferred
Non-controlling interest in Kaixin
Minus:
Identifiable assets
Identifiable liabilities
Net identifiable assets
Goodwill
2.

a
b
c
d
e=c-d
f=a+b-e

$

4,277
999
51,198
49,159
2,039
3,237

Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Financial Information

Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Balance Sheet
The adjustments included in the unaudited pro forma combined balance sheet as of June 30, 2020 are as follows:
(1) Reflects equity structure of Haitaoche through (a) the contribution of all the share capital in Haitaoche to Kaixin, (b) the issuance of totally
145,167,651 shares, (c) the elimination of the historical accumulated deficit and other equity balances of Kaixin, the accounting acquiree in the
business combination and (d) goodwill recognized in the business combination.
(2) Reflects the payments of 0.2 million related to business combination expenses. This cost is not included in the unaudited pro forma condensed
combined statement of operations as it is nonrecurring.
3.

Loss per Share

Represents the net loss per share calculated using the historical weighted average shares outstanding, and the issuance of additional shares in
connection with the Business Combination, assuming the shares were outstanding since January 1, 2019. As the Business Combination is being reflected as
if it had occurred at the beginning of the periods presented, the calculation of weighted average shares outstanding for basic and diluted net loss per share
assumes that the shares issuable relating to the Business Combination have been outstanding for the entire periods presented.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and the year ended
December 31, 2019:

Pro forma net loss
Basic weighted average shares outstanding
Net loss per share--basic and diluted

$
$

Year Ended December 31, 2019
(46,226) $
145,167,651
(0.32) $

Six Months Ended June 30, 2020
(5,732)
145,167,651
(0.04)

Basic weighted average shares outstanding
Kaixin public shareholders
Kaixin issued ordinary shares to Haitaoche shareholders
Weighted average shares outstanding

71,132,149
74,035,502
145,167,651

71,132,149
74,035,502
145,167,651

